THE SURVEY OF INCOME AND PROGRAM PARTICIPATION

THE POTENTIAL FOR COMPARATIVE PANEL RESEARCH USING DATA FROM THE SURVEY OF INCOME AND PROGRAM PARTICIPATION AND THE GERMAN SOCIO-ECONOMIC PANEL

No. 103

James C. Witte Harvard University

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The author would like to thank Dan Kasprzyk from the Bureau of the Census and Juergen Schupp from the Deutsches Institut fur Wirtschaftsforschung for their helpful comments and Roger MacBride Allen for technical assistance in preparing this paper. The views expressed are attributable to the author and do not necessarily reflect those of the Census Bureau.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

A. The Rationale for Comparative Panel Research						
B.	The German	n Socio-Economic Panel (SEP)	3			
	1.	History, Organization and Design of the Panel	3			
	2.	Survey Instrument	5			
	3.	Field Procedures and Results	8			
	4.	Data Management and Dissemination	11			
C.	The Potenti	al for Comparative Research using SEP and SIPP	13			
	1.	General Similarities and Differences	13			
	2.	Individual Substantive Areas	13			
		Employment and Income	13			
		Program Participation and Benefits	15			
		Household Composition and Family Events	16			
		Wealth and Asset Ownership	18			
		Housing Conditions and Residential Mobility	20			
		Education	22			
		Health and Disability	24			
		Retirement and Pensions	25			
App	endix 1: Variat	ole List for German Socio-Economic Panel	29			
App	endix 2: Biblio	graphy of SEP Literature	46			

TABLES

Table 1:	Variables Available to Determine Completion of a University Degree at the Time of the Second SEP interview for 4 Hypothetical Respondents	6
Table 2:	SEP Topical Modules	7
Table 3:	Development of the German Socio-economic Panel during the First Waves during the First 4 Waves Measured as a Percentage	9
Table 4:	Development of the German Socio-economic Panel due to Demographic Processes and Panel Mortality of Individual Interviews in Wave 1	10
Table 5:	Currently Available Records in the SIR Panel Database	11

Working with panel data such as that collected by the Survey of Income and Program Participation (SIPP) can be relatively expensive, both in terms of manpower and computing resources. The costs of using two or more panel data sets for comparative research increases, nearly proportionately, with the number of data sets. Experience with one panel data set is an advantage for working with another. Still there is no substitute for the detailed technical and substantive knowledge needed to use microdata, particularly a complex hierarchical longitudinal data set such as SIPP. Likewise, the data processing expenses (hardware, software and programmer time) associated with the use of multiple panels is considerable.

For these reasons, researchers are only likely to conduct analyses based on two or more data sets of this type, if a convincing case can be made for the methodological advantages and practical feasibility of such research. The opening section of this paper presents the methodological rationale for comparative panel research. Assuming that the reader is familiar with the Survey of Income and Program Participation (SIPP)¹, the second section begins with a general introduction to the history, organization and design of the German Socio-economic Panel (SEP). The discussion goes on to consider the SEP survey instruments and their content, field procedures, and data management and dissemination. The final section of the paper reviews the most important differences between SIPP and SEP and assesses their potential for comparative studies in specific substantive areas (including: employment and earnings, program participation and benefits, household composition and family events, education, and health and disability). This section is intended to aid SIPP users in determining whether they should look more closely into the SEP as an additional source of data.

A. The Rationale for Comparative Panel Research

The comparative approach to the study of society is as old as the endeavor. Plato's Republic is designed with an eye to the strengths and weaknesses he observed in the various Greek city-states. Similarly, much of Aristotle's work is devoted to describing and classifying phenomena from diverse societies in order to identify correct and proper principles of society. Modern sociology's "founding fathers", Weber and Durkheim, were both masters of comparative analysis. Though it has been argued that they use different types of explanation and different degrees of generalization (Ragin and Zaret 1983), the intent is the same: both rely upon descriptive and structural analyses of other societies to highlight the distinctive character of modern industrial society. Not unlike the principle of triangulation in navigation, historical and cross-cultural comparisons served both Weber and Durkheim in their attempts to formulate abstract rules about the organization of society.

¹General information concerning SIPP may be found in: Kasprzyk, D. (1988) "The Survey of Income and Program Participation: An Overview and Discussion of Research Issue" SIPP Working Paper 8830. For a more technical discussion designed for data users see the most recent version of the <u>SIPP Users' Guide</u> available from Customer Services Center, Marketing Services Office, Bureau of the Census, Washington, D.C. 20233, 301-457-4100.

Today the comparative method remains central to most macrosociological approaches to contemporary society, including historical sociological research. The use of the comparative method from a micro-sociological perspective is less common, particularly among researchers who emphasize the analysis of large-sample survey data. These studies generally remain bound to a particular social context: data for historical comparisons often are simply not available, while attempts to compare survey data across countries have tended to bog down in discussions of whether or not it is possible to obtain truly comparable data. These concerns have focused on the organizational problems related to the administration and coordination of study design and data collection, as well as measurement problems, such as language and the specificity of cultural context.

These concerns are by no means trivial, especially when a complex data set, such as SIPP, is under consideration. However they must be placed in perspective, considering that a crucial analytical tool is at stake. From a methodological perspective, comparative research may serve modern survey research in the same way it did Durkheim and Weber. Comparative research provides a means to introduce variance and control at the macro-level; it is the only way for social scientists to argue that their findings are generalizable, that they go beyond the idiosyncrasies of history. This insight was by no means forgotten as survey research came to assume its current dominant role in western sociology.² And, though the methodological arguments may not be stand out, there are important examples of comparative analyses and efforts at compiling and collecting microdata specifically for comparative studies (e.g. the Luxembourg Income Study project and Erik Olin Wright's multinational survey on class structure and consciousness).³

However, comparative research based on nationally representative panel studies remains essentially untried. To a certain extent this may be attributed to the lack of data -- until recently national panel data for countries other than the US were not available. Today the situation has changed: there is a second major US panel and large-scale panel studies have already collected multiple waves of data in Germany, Luxembourg, France, Sweden, the Netherlands and Belgium. But now that data for comparative studies is available most researchers are satisfied simply with the advantages of panel data relative to cross-sectional 'data. However, with panel data from a single country one remains unable to consider variance at the macrosocial or structural level. only a comparative perspective allows one to introduce at this level the degree of methodological

²Two examples from this period should suffice. Parsons writes in <u>The Structure of Social Action</u> (1949 [1937]) "Experiment is, in fact, nothing but the comparative method where the cases to be compared are produced to order and under controlled conditions." Similarly, Merton in his essay "Manifest and Latent Functions" (1968) argues that validation in functional analysis "requires, above all, a rigorous statement of the sociological procedures of analysis which most nearly approximate the <u>logic</u> of experimentation. It requires a systematic review of the possibilities and limitations of <u>comparative</u> (corss-cultural and cross-group) <u>analysis</u>." (Emphasis in original)

³For an overview of the LIS project see: Buhman Brigitte, et al., "Equivalence Scales, Well-Being, Inequality, and Poverty: Sensitivity Estimates Across Ten Countries Using the Luxembourg Income Study (LIS) Database." 1988. The Review of Income and Wealth. Series 34 (2) 115-142. Wright's project is discussed in: Wright, Erik Olin, Classes. 1985. (London: Verso Editions).

control sufficient to consider more general models of behavior.

A second argument on behalf of comparative panel research is practical rather than methodological. Working with other panel data sets, or at least knowing a good deal about them, allows one to profit from the experience of others. The international panel project in Luxembourg aims to facilitate the flow of information between panel projects, to encourage the individual panels to collect comparable information, and to inform the research community about the potential for comparative panel research.

Moreover, the practical value of a comparative approach extends beyond questions of design and feasibility into the analytical process itself. Panels offer a wealth of information, in particular data on change, which has previously been unavailable. However, there are no baselines or historical standards, against which researchers may evaluate this information. Whether a particular transition rate is high or low, or a certain pattern of change is abnormal, is neither a matter of intuition, nor can it be gleaned from history. Whether one has found the extraordinary or the commonplace in one's panel data is not self-evident. Examining panel data on similar processes elsewhere is an effective means to put one's findings into perspective and define a baseline. Panel data provide researchers with a completely new way to look at social processes, and practically any results may appear novel. A comparative approach may indicate which findings are truly important and those which only appear to be due to the novel means of observation.

B. The German Socio-Economic Panel (SEP)

1. History, Organization and Design of the Panel

The German Socio-Economic Panel is the only nationally representative panel study of households and individuals in the Federal Republic of Germany. The panel was started in 1984 by the Sonderforschungsbereich 3 (Sfb 3): Mikroanalytische Grundlagen der Gesellschaftspolitik (Special Collaborative Program 3: Micro-analytical Foundations of Social Policy). The Sfb 3 is a multi-disciplinary research effort located at the Universities of Frankfurt, Berlin and Mannheim and funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (the German National Science Foundation). The Deutsches Institut fuer Wirtschaftsforschung (DIW: German Institute for Economic Research) is a cosponsor of the project, providing staff, office space and computer facilities in Berlin. Data collection is contracted out to Infratest Sozialforschung in Munich. In addition, Infratest provides technical assistance and consultation on all aspects of fieldwork. Funding for the Sfb 3, will run out at the end of 1990. However, the SEP will outlive its parent organization: the Bund-Laender-Kommission fuer Bildungsplanung und Forschungsfoerderung, (the federal/state commission with budgetary authority for educational planning and the promotion of research) has agreed to finance the panel for six additional years.

The original panel sample was selected to represent the legal residential population of the Federal

Republic of Germany (including West Berlin). ⁴ The original sample, which serves as the basis for the panel, should be seen as two separate subsamples, each with its own design. The "German" subsample is based on the random route selection of households within selected sampling areas. Households headed by Turkish, Greek Yugoslavian, Spanish or Italian heads of household were ineligible for selection in this subsample. The "alien resident" subsample was designed to oversample these five major groups of alien residents. For this subsample, lists of registered individuals in selected sampling areas served as a basis for sample selection; the selection of any one individual in a household, then brought the entire household into the panel. Design weights are employed to adjust the sample due to differences in sampling probability between respondents of these five nationalities and all other respondents.

Based on this design, 10,638 households (7,979 with a German or 'other nationality' head of household and 2,659 with a member of one of the five major nationality groups as head of household) were selected. Uninhabited dwellings, those with incorrect addresses, and cases in the German subsample where the current head of household did not meet the nationality selection criteria were then removed from the sample yielding 9,599 eligible households (7,519 with a German or 'other nationality' head of household and 2,080 with a member of one of the five major nationality groups as head of household).

Another 32.% of the German subsample and approximately 25% of the alien resident subsample were dropped from the sample after the first wave, because not all adult members of a household were interviewed. After these households were dropped from the sample, 5,969 households (4,554 with a German or 'other nationality' head of household and 1,415 with a member of one of the five major nationality groups as head of household) remained in the panel and these households are referred to as "the original sample". The representativeness of the sample was then validated and the design weights were modified to adjust for variations in wave 1 nonresponse. Later nonresponse among members of this original sample is then treated as panel mortality and its influence is counteracted through a set of longitudinal weights developed on the basis of subsequent data collection efforts.

SEP and SIPP are similar in that all adult members of sample households are considered members of the original sample, as are children who become adults during the course of the panel. Moreover, both panels use essentially the same "following rules". These rules state that an individual remains a member of the panel, even if he or she leaves this original household to live alone or with other persons -- subject to certain geographical constraints. As in SIPP, those persons who become members of households with original SEP sample members are interviewed as long as

⁴Persons in institutions, as well as private households, were included in the population, and were eligible to become members of the sample. Data representing the institutionalized population from the early waves are generally viewed to be of limited validity. A greater emphasis is placed on information concerning subsequent transitions of individuals from private households into the institutional population.

⁵The evaluation of representativeness was based on comparisions of preliminary analyses with the SEP data and benchmark figures obtained from other data.

they continue to share a dwelling with a member of the original sample. Death or emigration are the principle legitimate means for a member to withdraw from the sample. Also similar to SIPP, persons in the original SEP sample who enter institutions are not interviewed, but are retained in the sample and become eligible for further interviews once they leave the institutional population and return to a private household.

Two of the more important differences between SIPP and SEP are related to the interview schedule. SEP interviews are conducted ,once a year in the late spring and early summer, rather than three times each year as in the case of SIPP. Additionally, the German panel is designed to run indefinitely and, unlike the SIPP panels, will not be "retired" after a set period of time or number of waves. The original sample will be retained, so long as its representativeness is not challenged due to the cumulative effects of panel mortality.

2. Survey Instrument

Three types of survey instruments are employed for each wave of SEP data collection: the address protocol, household questionnaires and individual questionnaires. It is particularly important that users understand these differences as they are crucial to the structure of the available data files. The variable list in Appendix 1 provides a list of data collected during the first five waves using these instruments.

The <u>address protocol</u> serves the same function as the SIPP control card. The interviewer fills out an address protocol for each household including names, identification numbers and important demographic characteristics of all persons in the household, as well as a summary of field work to date and interviewer information about the dwelling. Changes in household composition are also recorded on the address protocol. An additional address protocol is created when a member of the original sample brings a new address into the panel. Others living in the same household at this address become members of the panel as long as they live with a member of the original sample. All individuals and households listed on address protocols constitute the gross data set (Bruttodaten), while those households and individuals who actually provide interviews are referred to as the net data set (Nettodaten). The reason a household or individual belongs to the gross data set but not the net data set, i.e. why an interview was not conducted, is recorded on the address protocol.

Each person 16 years of age or older in a SEP panel household is to complete an <u>individual questionnaire</u>— in SIPP individuals aged 15 or older are interviewed. SEP is also unlike SIPP in that beginning with the second wave there are two basic versions of this instrument each year: a green version for persons interviewed in the previous year and a blue version for persons new to the panel. The blue version is designed to collect information, which has already been collected from persons who entered the panel earlier. Actually, there are twelve versions of the individual questionnaire in each year — blue and green German questionnaires as well as blue and green versions in the language of each of the five major groups of alien residents. Not only are the questionnaires translated but they are also modified to a limited extent to consider issues specific

to the resident alien population.

The example presented in Table 1 illustrates this point. The highest level of schooling completed was asked of all respondents in the first wave. These respondents are then asked a filter question is subsequent years as to whether or not they completed a further level of education in the previous year. If this is the case, then the respondent is queried regarding the type of education involved. Persons new to the sample, however, receive a set of questions comparable to those asked of all persons in the first wave. Thus, the same information, the highest level of schooling completed, is collected at different times depending on when the person entered the panel and when his or her education was completed.

Table 1: Variables Available to Determine Completion of a University Degree at the Time of the Second SEP interview for 4 Hypothetical Respondents

Variable	Original sample memb German version Uni degree 1980	er Original sample member German version Uni. degree 1985	New to sample German version Uni. degree 1980	Foreign respondent German university degree 1980						
AP0708	1	-2		-2						
AP07Al0	-2	-2		1						
BP53	.2	1	-2	-2						
BP5402	-2	1	-2	-2						
SP92808	-2	.2	1	.2						
BPI02AI0	-2	-2	-2	-2						
AP0708 AP07AIO BP53 BP5402 BP92808 SP102AIO	Wave1 Wave2 Wave2 Wave2	German version. Holds a university degree. Foreign version. Holds a degree from a German Liniversity. German and foreign versions. CoMLeted additional education since last interview. German and foreign versions. Additional completed education was a university degree. German version rww respondents. Holds a university degree. Foreign version new respondents. Holds a university degree.								

For all variables 1 = yes; -2 = missing, not applicable

It is important that users understand this feature: since the data set is organized on a wave by wave basis, information regarding the highest level of education for all persons in the panel is contained in several variables. New information is added sequentially to the data base rather than updating old variables. This block of questions is also organized differently in the foreign versions, because many resident aliens have been educated outside of Germany, as well as in the German system.

Users should consult the address protocol to determine which version of the individual questionnaire has been used for each person in a given wave. Several variables may have to be combined to create a single unified variable. Failure to do so may lead one to ignore a valid piece of information, and use a missing value, because a different questionnaire version was used and

the valid information is stored elsewhere.

The individual questionnaires contain between sixty and ninety questions and require approximately thirty minutes per person to complete. As in the case of SIPP, the information collected by the individual questionnaires may be divided into core and topical components. Core questions deal with the following areas:

- -- Education
- -- Labor force participation
- -- Occupational mobility
- -- Unemployment
- -- Personal income
- -- Taxes and social security
- -- Time use
- -- Satisfaction with various aspects of one's life
- -- Health
- -- values and political attitudes.

Two calendars are also included in the core questionnaire: 1) an activity calendar that records participation in schooling, vocational education, military service, full-time employment, part-time employment, unemployment, homemaking or retirement on a monthly basis for the previous year and 2) an income calendar where respondents indicate, also on a monthly basis, whether they received income from various sources in the past year and the average monthly amount received from each source (whereby the average is based only on the months income was received from a particular source).

Table 2 lists the existing and planned topical modules for the first 10 SEP waves.

Table 2: SEP Topical Modules

- Wave 1 Biographical information, in particular Labor force participation
- Wave 2 Marital and family history
- Wave 3 Family background, including age, education and occupation of parents
- Wave 4 Social security and retirement
- Wave 5 Asset balance (completed by only one household member)
- Wave 6 Continuing education and occupational qualifications
- Wave 7 Detailed questions regarding time use and time preferences
- Wave 8 Family, social services and social networks
- Wave 9 Social security and retirement
- Wave 10 Asset balance

The first three topical modules are of particular importance because they are designed to collect

background information useful for a variety of analyses.⁶ In wave 1 individuals were asked to provide a short biography, indicating for each adult year of their lives whether they had been involved in the following activities: schooling, vocational education, military service, full-time employment, part-time employment, unemployment, homemaking or retirement. In wave 2 respondents were asked to provide a marital history and information concerning the type of area they grew up in, as well as when they left the parental household. Women were also asked to complete a fertility history. Further information concerning social background (in particular age, education and occupation of respondents' parents) was then collected as the topical module in wave 3.

The information collected in the first three topical modules should be seen as an attempt to extend the timeframe back before the start of the panel to provide life history data for panel members. In both core and topical questions, whenever appropriate and feasible, an attempt is made to date respondents' entry into a particular state or the beginning of a spell so that the data may be used for event history analyses. In general, only the year for events and transitions prior to start of the panel are available, but those events and transitions that occur during the panel are dated on a monthly basis.

The third SEP survey instrument is the <u>household questionnaire</u>, which is completed once for each household -- usually by the person designated as head of household. The household questionnaire contains about forty questions and requires fifteen to twenty minutes per household to complete. Here, too, there are different versions when the household has just entered the panel or the head of household belongs to one of the five major groups of alien residents. Furthermore, since describing a household's dwelling is an important part of the household questionnaire, a blue version (which collects information on the physical attributes of a household's dwelling) is also given to households which have moved to a new dwelling since the previous interview. Households remaining at the same address receive a shorter, green version, since most data on the dwelling do not need to be collected again. In addition to dwelling characteristics, the household questionnaire collects information on children in the household, the care of household members with special needs, and household income, assets and program participation. In wave 3 questions regarding neighborhood characteristics and in wave 4 regarding child care were included in the household questionnaire.

3. Field Procedures and Results

Household and individual interviews are designed as personal interviews conducted by trained interviewers. However, if a different interview method is preferred by a respondent and may help to keep this person in the panel, other options are available. As a result, about one-third of all individual questionnaires are filled out by the respondents themselves and then returned to the interviewer. The foreign questionnaire versions are bilingual to aid the interviewer in transcribing

⁶Beginning with the 1986 panel these data are comparable to the personal history data collected in the SIPP Wave 2 topical module.

responses. Interviewers are also permitted to hire a bilingual companion to assist them on interviews with foreign respondents. This option was exercised in one-quarter of all individual interviews with persons in the foreign subsample during the first wave, but has been used less frequently in subsequent waves (16% in the fourth wave).

In part, this reduction may be due to processes of selection; those persons with the greatest need for an interpreter may have already dropped out of the panel. However, the reduced need for interpreters is certainly also related to continuity among the interviewer staff. This continuity is intended to reduce panel mortality, but is likely to also reduce the need for interpreters as respondents and interviewers learn to complete the questionnaires together despite language differences. The degree of continuity among the interviewer staff is impressive: in the fourth wave 92% of the fieldwork was conducted by interviewers involved with the project since the first wave. Introductory letters, small gifts (such as pens, pocket calculators and lottery tickets), and yearly brochures describing applications of the data are also used to encourage response and keep panel mortality to a minimum.

Nonetheless, panel mortality does occur, so members of the SEP project have paid particular attention to monitoring nonresponse, assessing its impact, exploring its causes and developing longitudinal weights to correct for its effects. Table 3 reviews the overall development of the panel during its first four waves. Fluctuations in panel size are a combination of demographic forces (births, deaths, emigration and institutionalization) and panel mortality.

Table 3: Development of the German socioeconomic Panel during the First 4 Waves

<u>Data set</u>	Wave 1 (1984)	Wave 2 (1985)	Wave 3 (1986)	Wave 4 (1987)
Individual records* (gross tape)	16,252	16,977	16,536	15,984
Individuals (gross tape)	16,252	16,737	16,235	15,726
Designated respondents (gross tape)	12,290	12,910	12,297	11,856
Individual interviews (new tape)	12,245	11,090	10,646	10,516
Household records (gross tape)	10,638	6,142	5,878	5,512
Household interviews	5,921	5,322	5,090	5,026

^{*}Beginning with the second wave, the number of individual records exceeds the number of individuals because two records exist for mobile individuals: in the gross tape these individuals appear as "Latent" records in their original households as welt as in the households in which they currently Live. This structure simplifies analyses of mobility, but for other purposes one must ensure that Latent records are not treated as valid cases.

For this reason it is useful to decompose the development of the panel over-time into its

constituent elements as in Table 4. Results for the German and resident alien subsamples are provided separately, in each case the percentages are based on the number of individual interviews provided in wave 1; that is, the results are cumulative indicators of change in the panel.

Table 4 differs from Table 3 in that it considers the question of sample size from a longitudinal perspective. For example, in Table 3 the number of individual interviews in wave 4 is equal to 85.9% of the number in wave 1; but this includes persons who were interviewed for the first time after wave 1. These interviews are relevant if one wishes to look at data from wave 4 as a cross section or if one is interested in a longitudinal sample covering a shorter time period. However, if one is interested in a longitudinal sample based on the wave 1 to wave 4 data, then the figures in Table 4 determine the available sample, which equals 75.5% of the original German subsample and 68.3% of the alien resident subsample. Lower rates of panel mortality would certainly be desirable. However, as Table 4 also shows, some of the attrition, particularly among the alien resident subsample, mirrors demographic processes in the population (death and emigration). Moreover, in both subsamples the yearly loss due to panel mortality has declined continuously since wave 2. Finally, it should be noted that for many analytical purposes a shorter observation period may be sufficient,, which effectively serves to increase the number of available cases.⁷

Table 4: Development of the German Socio-economic Panel due to Demographic Processes and Panel Mortality during the First 4 Waves Measured as a Percentage of Individual Interviews in Wave 1

	Wave 1 (1984)	Wave 2 (1985)	Wave 3 (1986)	Wave 4 (1987)
German subsample	` '	,	,	,
emigration death panel mortality realized interviews 16 year olds new adults	100.0	- 0.2 - 0.7 -10.9 68.1 + 1.9 + 1.2	- 0.3 - 1.7 -17.2 80.7 + 3.8 + 2.9	- 0.4 - 2.4 -21.6 75.5 + 5.6 + 4.9
Alien resident subsample				
emigration death panel mortality realized interviews 16 year olds new adults	100.0	- 5.4 - 0.2 -13.3 80.9 + 2.2 + 1.3	- 7.7 - 0.3 -17.5 74.4 + 4.7 + 2.5	- 9.5 - 0.4 -21.7 68.3 + 7.3 + 4.4

Panel mortality includes respondents who could not be located as well as those who refused to be interviewed. New adults are 200+ persons in SIPP terminology.

⁷This is particularly true when one is interested in casual analyses, when inferences concerning the absolute number of similar cases in the population is large is not of interest. In this case, if one is only concerned with short-term features of the process and assumes that the process remains constant during the overall time period, cases occuring at various times may be analyzed together.

4. Data Management and Dissemination

The completed survey instruments are put into machine-readable form by Infratest Sozialforschung in Munich. In a manual editing process open-ended responses are coded and all responses are then entered into data files. Missing values are also coded at this time, whereby a distinction is made between data missing due to nonresponse and data missing because an item is not applicable due to a previous filter question. At this stage the data are also subject to initial cleaning and plausibility checks. All responses are keyed in twice to avoid transcription errors and all data originating from each household is linked to check for consistency and completeness - particularly to assure that identification numbers are accurately assigned. In addition, a series of reliability, plausibility and consistency programs have ...,been designed to check that data are entered into the proper columns, that responses fall within permissible ranges and that they do not contradict other information obtained during the interview. In the event of an error, the original survey instruments are consulted and, if necessary, respondents may be contacted to clarify the problem. It a problem can not be resolved, the response remains in the data but is marked with an error flag.

At this point, the data for a given wave are sent to the DIW in the form of two raw data tapes, one containing the gross data set and the other the net data set (see above). The DIW panel project has organized the data in a SIR (Scientific Information Retrieval system) database. In this form the household and individual data for each wave are subdivided into a number of distinct files or records. These records are designed to reduce data storage requirements, while identification and pointer variables allow data from the various records and waves to be efficiently linked. Table 5 provides an overview of the records contained in the current (waves 1-4) version of the SIR database.

Table 5. Currently Available Records in the SIR Panel Database

PPFAD	Interview status and household IDs all persons all waves
PHRF	All design, cross-sectional and individual weights
HHRF	All design, cross-sectional and household weights
AP	Data from individual interviews - Wave 1
APKAL	Individual income and activity calendars - Wave 1
AKIND	Data on children in panel households - Wave 1
APAUSL	Data from questions asked only of alien residents - Wave 1
APBRUTTO	Respondent and Nonrespondent gross data - Wave 1
APSIO	Life history information collected in Wave 1
AH	Data from household interviews - Wave 1
BP	Data from individual interviews - Wave 2
BPKAL	Individual income and activity calendars - Wave 2

⁸In the raw data sets a blank indicates the item is not applicable and a 9 (or 99 or 999 or 9999) nonresponse. In the SIR database, -2 indicates that an item is not applicable And -1 stands for nonresponse.

BKIND Data on children in panel households - Wave 2

BPAUSL Data from questions asked only of alien residents - Wave 2

BPBRUTTO Respondent and nonrespondent gross data - Wave 2

BH Data from household interviews - Wave 2

BHRUTTO Household gross data - Wave 2

CP Data from individual interviews - Wave 3

CPKAL Individual income and activity calendars - Wave 3
CKIND Data on children in panel households - Wave 3

CPAUSL Data from questions asked only of alien residents - Wave 3

CPBRUTTO Respondent and nonrespondent gross data - Wave 3

CH Data from household interviews - Wave 3

CHORUTTO Household gross data - Wave 3

DP Data from individual interviews - Wave 4

DPKAL Individual income and activity calendars - Wave 4
DKIND Data on children in panel households - Wave 4

DPAUSL Data from questions asked only of alien residents - Wave 4

DPBRUTTO Respondent and nonrespondent gross data - Wave 4

DH Data from household interviews - Wave 4

DHBRUTTO Household gross data - Wave 4

Using the SIR database, further plausibility and consistency programs are conducted. At this time, special attention is paid to checking the data against responses provided in previous waves, a type of editing that Infratest Sozialforschung is generally unable to conduct. Considerable effort has gone into cleaning demographic data (age, sex, marital status etc.), as these data are relatively objective and are especially important for assessing the effects of panel mortality and devising weighting schemes to correct for differential patterns of nonresponse. Data problems discovered at this time are reported to Infratest, where the original survey instruments and, if necessary, follow-up phone calls are-used to resolve the problems. If a definite error is discovered, the data are corrected; unresolved problems are marked with an error code. All changes to the data as well as unresolved inconsistencies or implausibilities are documented in a separate record in the SIR database.

Once in this form the data are released on a wave by wave basis to users outside the Sfb 3 and the DIW. Data from the first four waves of the SEP are currently available to researchers at over 30 universities and research institutes in the FRG. Users with access to SIR at their local computing facility are provided a copy of the data base. Other users receive raw data sets, collections of rectangular files, each of which contains data from one or more SIR records. Strict German nondisclosure laws have restricted the use of the data abroad. Recently in several cases, the concerns of data confidentiality officials regarding use of the data abroad have been met. As a result, the data have been made available to individual researchers in the US, Australia and to the LIS project in Luxembourg. At this time, the principle constraints limiting wider distribution of the data are data management questions, in particular the limited availability of SIR and the size and complexity of the raw data set, rather than the nondisclosure issue.

C. The Potential for Comparative Research using SEP and SIPP

1. General Similarities and Differences

Based on the preceding overview of the SEP, this panel is clearly a good overall candidate for comparative studies using the SIPP. The general designs of the two studies are quite similar, with regard to the population of inference, "following rules" and the inclusion of all adults in a household in the sample of individuals. The limited duration of the SIPP panels, however, does constrain the extent to which long-term processes may be compared. On the other hand, during the period of observation SEP does not always offer the same degree of precision in the dating of events and transitions, due to more frequent SIPP interviews and the collection of some data on a weekly basis. Though the original SEP sample is by no means small (approximately 6,000 household and 12,000 individual interviews), the number of households and individuals in the panel is far greater in the SIPP. Whether both or either panel includes sufficient cases varies according to the nature of the study and the duration of observation, as well as patterns of nonresponse.

There is also considerable overlap in the content of the data collected. On the whole, one can say that the SIPP has a more narrowly defined research agenda than that of SEP. Both of the central themes of SIPP - income and program participation -- are emphasized in the SEP as well. However, the SEP core data ranges wider to consider topics, such as time use, political attitudes, and life satisfaction that are never a part of the SIPP survey, or topics such as health that are only raised once in a SIPP topical module. However, in the areas it emphasizes, the SIPP questionnaires ask for a greater degree of precision and disaggregation. In the following section, the question of comparability, in particular the degree of overlap in survey content in specific research areas is discussed.

2. Individual Substantive Areas

Employment and Income

This area may well be the most fruitful for comparative studies using the SIPP and SEP data, particularly for the period of direct panel observation. Questions in three main sections of the SIPP core questionnaire (Labor Force and Recipiency, Earnings and Employment, and Amounts of Income Received) collect relevant information. As part of the core questionnaire the SIPP data include information on employment status, sources of income, type of employment (the branch of industry, as well as employee occupation), and whether a disability hinders employment. All of these areas are covered in the SEP core questionnaire as well, though there are several important differences. To begin with, the two studies measure employment status, particularly unemployment, somewhat differently. The criterion emphasized in SIPP, as in most American studies is whether a person without work is looking for work. Thus SIPP asks for each week not worked, whether a person was looking for work or wanted work, but was not looking. SEP, on the other hand, only asks those out of work at the time of the interview, if they intend to work in the future

and, if this is the case, how soon they intend to resume employment. However, SEP also asks these persons if they are registered with their local employment office, which is a requirement for various unemployment benefits. The local employment offices also serve as important employment placement agencies and, to a certain extent, benefits are contingent upon looking for work and accepting suitable referrals from the employment office. Respondents are asked as part of the yearly activity calendar to indicate in which months during the previous calendar year they were registered as unemployed. Thus, this information provides an approximately comparable definition of unemployment, but dated on a monthly basis and not weekly as in the case of SIPP.

SIPP also dates employment relationships and job shifts somewhat more accurately than SEP, which asks respondents to provide the month an employment relationship begins or ends. The SIPP questionnaire also collects more precise information on the amount of income obtained from various sources: for each month of the panel, respondents are queried as to the amount of income obtained from each source. SEP asks respondents to indicate the sources of income for each month, but only asks them to provide an average amount for all months in which income from this source was received. Also, if a respondent has worked for more than one employer, the SIPP data provides a more accurate measure of the amount of income received from each. Both studies provide information on recipiency and income from a variety of sources (including social programs, pensions, asset income, alimony and child support) on a monthly basis. These data are highly comparable and for their respective countries both SIPP and SEP are unique sources for data of this type.

The SEP core questionnaire collects a variety of additional information regarding employment relationships that goes beyond the data available in SIPP. Respondents are asked a number of questions regarding working conditions, their attitudes toward employment and to assess the fit between their current position and the education and vocational training they have acquired. Respondents experiencing job shifts in the previous year (job changes within a firm as well as those between firms) are asked the reasons for the shift and to compare their current and past jobs on a number of dimensions. Though direct comparisons are not possible using these data, it is, nonetheless, of considerable interest for comparative research. The SEP provides longitudinal data on current labor market processes in the FRG that is unavailable from any other data set. Seen in this light, this additional information provides invaluable background information for understanding differences and similarities observed using the SIPP and SEP data.

Both SIPP and SEP have also featured questions relevant to the study of employment in the topical module components of their questionnaires. Most importantly both have collected employment histories and information regarding spells of nonemployment, while SEP also asks about periods of registered unemployment. This information is dated by years, rather than months, but it still does a great deal to counter the problem of left-censoring in pure panel designs. Though neither panel attempts to retrospectively collect income data, the wealth of data

⁹Of course, the more detailed SIPP information can be recoded to indicate monthly labor force participation. In fact, monthly labor force participation recodes are included with the public release files.

concerning labor force participation provides a strong basis for imputing earnings prior to the beginning of the panels.

Finally, the issue of reservation wages raised in Part C of the SIPP wave 5 topical module became a part of the SEP core questionnaire beginning in wave 4. These data provide a unique opportunity for an international comparison of the subjective appraisal of the role that financial incentives play in the employment decision.

Program Participation and Benefits

Research regarding program participation and the amount and types of benefits received is another potentially rich area for comparative research using the SEP and SIPP panels. Careful attention, however, must be paid to the broader scope of social programs in the FRG. Not only greater availability, but also a different sense of acceptability and entitlement lend a different character to program participation in the FRG. The relatively smaller SEP sample size must also be kept in mind. The small absolute numbers of participants and of transitions in and out of programs within the sample limit the potential for long-term analyses. However, by focusing on the short-term and accumulating cases from several waves, a sufficiently large number of cases may be found.

Since household criteria are used in the FRG to determine eligibility and benefits for most programs, most information concerning program participation is obtained from the household reference person as part of the SEP household interview. Each year the reference person is asked whether any one in the household received benefits from a variety of programs, including housing assistance, children's benefits, general welfare, social assistance and other more specialized programs. In the event that benefits were received, the respondent is queried as to the number of months they were received and the average monthly amount. The particular months in which they were received is not recorded. For individual-based programs, most notably unemployment compensation, Federal Educational Assistance, maternity benefits, and assistance during continuing education, similar information is obtained from each individual as part of the yearly income calendar. In this case the specific months of recipiency are recorded as well.

Similarly, as part of the core questionnaire, each SIPP respondent provides information regarding program participation. On the whole, the SIPP attempts to obtain this information more precisely than SEP -- respondents are to name the specific months in which benefits were received and, in most cases, the amount received in each month. In addition to the information pertaining to State unemployment compensation and Supplemental Unemployment Benefits, these questions pertain to Social Security, Supplemental Security Income (SSI), Veterans Administration benefits, Medicare, Food Stamps, AFDC, WIC, energy assistance and school lunch programs.

The SIPP Welfare History topical module provides important supplementary information concerning program participation. In the event of current recipiency, respondents are asked when

program participation began, thereby addressing the left censoring problem for many spells.¹⁰ All respondents are asked about past program participation: whether or not benefits from particular programs were ever received, and, if they have been, when was the first time they were received and for how long. Unfortunately retrospective information is not available in the SEP, so comparative analyses must focus on the time period covered by the panel.

Household Composition and Family Events

The study of household composition and family situation are among the primary research objectives underlying SEP. SIPP, on the other hand, is principally concerned with providing data for the study of income and program participation. However, the data SIPP must collect in order to provide an adequate foundation for the study of income and program participation necessarily include a wealth of information concerning household composition and family events that may serve as the basis for comparative analysis.

For the study of household composition, the SEP address protocol and the SIPP control card are the most important data collection instruments; each provides a month by month record of persons in a household.

Due to the similar following rules used by both panels, these records provide a unique data source for dynamic analyses of household composition.

Data from the SEP address protocol, for respondents as well as nonrespondents, belong to the gross data records, This information can be linked, either in the SIR data base or in raw data format, with the actual interview results found in the net data records. These variables include current household size, relationship to household reference person¹¹ and household membership at the time of each interview. The latter variables (APZUG, BPZUG, CPZUG, DPZUG) indicate if a person is currently a household member and if this person was a member of the household at the time of the previous interview. If a person has left or entered a household, a related set of variables indicates when the change occurred.

Comparable information on household composition, as well as family and subfamily composition, is recorded on the SIPP control card, though the actual organization of the data varies between

¹⁰Left-censoring remains a problem for persons receiving benefits at the start of the panel, who no longer receive them at the time of the Wave 5 interview. Questions regarding prior spells of program participation do not unambiguously provide the needed information. Beginning with the 1986 Panel this problem is significantly reduced as these questions are asked in Wave 2.

¹¹Codinf for this variable is: 0=household reference person; 1=spouse of reference person; 2=unmarried partner of reference person; 3=child of reference person; 4=foster child of reference person; 5=son-in-law or daughter-in-law of reference person; 6=mother or father of reference person; 7=stepmother or stepfather of reference person; 8=brother or sister of reference person; 9=grandchild of reference person; 10=other relative of reference person; 11=person not related to head of household.

the rectangular and complex versions of the data sets. Additional information includes coded reasons for entry and exit from the household and a set of codes for family and subfamily types. A similar set of generated household type codes based on relationships between household members and the household reference person is available for SEP households as well.

As part of its core questionnaire the SEP asks a series of questions regarding changes in family situation. Individuals are asked if during the current or previous calendar year whether they have married, moved together with a partner, been divorced, widowed, separated, broken up with a partner, and whether a child was born or left the parental household. If any of these events occurred, respondents are asked to name the month in which it occurred. Combined with information on changes from the gross data set concerning changes in household composition one may use this information to analyze the reasons for entering and leaving a household quite similar to those possible with SIPP.

Each year SEP respondents also report their current marital status: single, married living together, married living apart, divorced or widowed. The data for alien residents further distinguishes for married couples living apart whether both spouses live in the FRG or one lives abroad. Persons not living with a spouse are asked if they are currently cohabitating. Beginning in wave 3 cohabitants are also asked when they began to live with their partners.

Other data on family events has been collected as part of the SEP topical modules. In wave 2 respondents were asked to provide a marital history; the year each of their first three marriages began, whether it had been dissolved through death or divorce and, if so, in what year. Women were also asked to provide a fertility history, listing the birth year and sex for up to eight children, whether each child still lives with its mother and, if not, the year the child moved away. Respondents are also asked when they left the parental household, whether the majority of their childhood was spent in a rural or urban area and if they still live in the same area.

The wave 3 topical module explores respondents' family background still further. This information includes the birth and death years of both parents, and the level of schooling and type of occupational training obtained by each. Respondents are also asked whether the majority of their childhood was spent with one or both of their natural parents and the employment status of their parents or natural guardians during these years. In addition, respondents are asked to think back to when they were fifteen and provide detailed information as to the occupation of their fathers. Alien residents answer a slightly shorter series of questions concerning family background, followed by questions regarding their experiences as foreigners living in the FRG.

Very similar marital and fertility histories were collected in the wave 8 topical module of the 1984 SIPP panel. Here, too, the SIPP questions aim for more precise dating as respondents are asked to also provide the month in which a marriage, divorce or birth occurred. Equally precise dating

in the SEP is available, if the marriage, divorce or birth occurs during the panel. ¹² Additional information is collected in SIPP's wave 8 topical module on private transfers to persons outside the household. Questions concerning payments of this type are a part of the regular SEP core questionnaire, so that this issue also lends itself to comparative study. The matrix of household relationships completed by each SIPP reference person (detailing the relationship of each person in the household to every other household member) is not directly available for SEP households, though the vast majority of these relationships can be determined from other information.

Wealth and Asset Ownership

Through tax policy and other forms of selective incentives, the state plays a crucial role in determining the amount of resources available to individuals for savings and investment and the allocation of these resources among various types of savings and investment. In an area such as this, a comparative approach is particularly appropriate, since it introduces variation in the structure of incentives offered to individuals and provides a more general test of the extent to which such incentives govern individual actions.

Both SIPP and SEP collect an enormous amount of detailed data concerning wealth and asset ownership, much of which lends itself to longitudinal analyses of the processes of acquiring and losing wealth. Unfortunately these processes are often slow and gradual, such that the degree of comparability is reduced by the differing temporal perspectives of the two studies. Here, too, SIPP provides detailed data collection concerning the short run, while the SEP data is less detailed but covers a greater time period. This general difference is exacerbated with regard to wealth and asset ownership; the 5th topical module focused on this area, however wealth and asset ownership will not be surveyed in this detail again until the 10th SEP wave.

As part of its core questionnaire SEP collects relatively little information concerning wealth and asset ownership, primarily through a short series of questions in the household interview. To begin with, the reference person is asked whether any household member received revenue from property in the preceding calendar year. If this is the case, respondents are queried regarding the amount of revenue and yearly expenses, broken down between mortgage, interest and maintenance costs. The household reference person is also asked to estimate interest and dividend payments received by household members. The reference person is also asked whether any member of the household owns other types of assets (including a savings passbook, life insurance, stocks and bonds, or business assets) but is not asked to estimate the value of these assets. As noted in other sections, information is available regarding home ownership and participation in private insurance plans. However, these forms of wealth and asset ownership do

¹²The SIPP fertility histor also includes questions concerning a woman's employment status and maternity benefits received when her first child was born. Though not asked as part of the fertility history, this information is available in the SEP for those children born during the course of the panel. Additionally, life history data collected in the first wave provides an indicator of mothers' employment on a yearly basis for children born prior to the star of the panel.

not have the same significance in the FRG as in the US and an ongoing record of the value of assets of these types is not collected.

Data from the 5th SEP topical module provides a far more complete picture of asset ownership, particularly with regard to estimating the value of each household's holdings. This information is also provided by the household reference person and begins with an estimate of the assessed and market values of owner occupied dwelling units. If any member of the household owns other property, the reference person is asked to provide an estimate of this property's market value.

Owners of agricultural business's are identified and their holdings are characterized according to size and principle crops. Owners (other than shareholders) of other types of businesses are asked to identify the form of ownership and the market value of their holdings. At this time the approximate current value of other holdings (savings passbook, homeowner savings plans and stocks and bonds) are ascertained. Information is also collected for the three most valuable life insurance policies held by household members and the three most valuable inheritances received in the past twenty-five years. Finally, the reference person is asked to estimate the combined indebtedness and net worth of all household members.

Though the SIPP core questionnaire emphasizes income, the data collected for this purpose also provide information on assets and wealth, in so far as they generate income. Thus, section 1 of the core questionnaire identifies whether a respondent owns particular types of assets.¹³ Section 3 then concentrates on the amount of income these assets generated during the past 4 months. In this context, respondents are also asked to report the value of interest bearing assets, while for stocks, mutual funds, rental property, mortgages, royalties and other financial investments they are simply queried as to the income they have produced.

Details as to the amounts of other types of assets and wealth are collected in SIPP as part of various topical modules. In wave 4 further details on interest earning assets, business ownership, the value of stocks and market funds, the market value and debt on rental property, and equity in other investments are collected. SIPP also gathers information on debt liability, examining this area in greater detail than SEP. Finally, particular attention is paid to assets targeted toward retirement, including IRAs and Keough accounts, and home equity (see sections e and h below). This information is then updated in the wave 7 topical module. The wave 6 and wave 9 topical modules, which review 1984 and 1985 earnings respectively, add further to the continuous record of SIPP respondents asset ownership.

¹³Respondents are asked about: passbook savings, money market deposit accounts, certificates of deposit, NOW checking accounts, money market funds, U.S. government securities, municipal or corporate bonds, stocks, rental property, mortgages and other financial investments.

Housing Conditions and Residential Mobility

On the whole, the SEP data on housing conditions and dwelling characteristics are more specific than that collected by SIPP. Both collect these data in a similar manner, relying on two sources. SEP interviewers enter a general description of the dwelling unit on the address protocol similar to that given by SIPP interviewers on the control card. In both cases, a supplementary description of the dwelling unit is provided by the household reference person. Here, however, there is an important difference. In SEP these questions were asked during the first interview and were then repeated each time a household moved to a new address, allowing for a detailed comparison of old and new dwellings. In SIPP this information is collected as part of the wave 4 topical module. It is only available for a single dwelling and not each dwelling inhabited by an individual during the course of the panel. Thus, the comparison of old and new dwellings in SIPP is confined to the characteristics contained on the control card.

Publicly available information based on the SEP address protocol includes the region in which the dwelling unit is located (Northern, Central or Southern Germany), the number of inhabitants in the community where the dwelling is located, a characterization of the community (using the Boustedt codes based on the number of inhabitants and the degree of urban development), whether the neighborhood is residential, industrial or mixed, and whether the dwelling unit is a single family home or is in a multi-unit building.

The detailed information provided by each SEP household reference person includes: the year the house was built, when the reference person moved into the dwelling, and whether the building is in need of renovation. Whether the unit contains certain amenities (a basement, central heat, etc.) is then recorded, as is its size, both in square meters and number of rooms, and the reference person's assessment of whether the size is adequate for the household.

SEP questions regarding the cost of housing are based on an initial filter question separating owners and renters. Renters report their monthly rent and any costs incurred for modernization and renovation. Owners are asked how they acquired the unit (through purchase, new construction or inheritance), monthly payments, and their estimation of how these costs compare to renting a comparable unit.

As mentioned above, beginning with wave 2, two different versions of the SEP household questionnaire are used: one for households remaining at the same address and a second for households now located at a new address. If the household is at a new address, questions similar to those asked in wave 1 collect information on the characteristics of the new dwelling unit, These households are also asked to compare several dimensions of their previous and current dwellings and state whether their living situation has improved. Households remaining at the same address simply report on modernization or renovation that may have changed these characteristics. Information on current housing costs is then collected using the same sets of questions for all households.

The SEP wave 3 household questionnaire includes several additional questions concerning the neighborhood in which a household currently lives. These questions concern the distances to shopping, schools, recreational facilities and public transportation, the presence of air and noise pollution, the degree of contact with neighbors and satisfaction with the neighborhood as a whole.

The SIPP control card information lists whether the housing unit is located in a rural or urban area, the type of housing unit (house, motel, rooming house, mobile home, etc.), the number of units in the structure, tenure, and whether public or subsidized housing is involved. The latter characteristic is used as a filter for the SIPP core questions regarding housing, which are only asked of those in public housing or receiving government housing subsidies.

Most information in SIPP regarding housing costs, conditions and energy usage is provided by the reference person as part of the wave 4 topical module. Homeowners provide detailed information concerning mortgages and home equity loans including the size of the mortgage, when it was obtained, monthly payments, purchase price, current value and date of construction. A separate block of questions apply to mobile home owners including questions related to site ownership or rental. The block of questions for renters includes monthly rent, length of occupancy, utility costs, and whether any member of the household owns other real estate. All household reference persons are then asked about the number of rooms in the dwelling, the type of fuel used for heating, hot water and cooking, and whether the unit has air conditioning and a variety of major appliances.

The potential for comparative research on housing costs and conditions using the data available in SEP and SIPP is limited. SIPP was not designed for this purpose and caution must be exercised when using the SIPP data from the topical module, since the information may describe a dwelling occupied for only part of the observation period. Restricting the analysis to immobile households is one solution but this may introduce selectivity bias.

On the other hand, the housing data obtained in the two surveys, combined with the vast amount of additional household and individual data collected, may prove quite useful, particularly for describing differences in housing conditions and patterns of home ownership in the two countries. For these purposes, SIPP and SEP can be seen as rich sources of cross-sectional data. Longitudinal analyses are also possible, if one concentrates on housing conditions and costs at the time of the third SIPP wave. Both studies ask when the current dwelling was first occupied so that the length of occupancy is not left-censored. Information from the first two SIPP waves and retrospective questions are available for understanding the housing data, but little is known about other dwellings occupied during the panel. Moreover neither panel collects information on other dwellings occupied before the start of the panel. In sum, the data are well-suited for research linking the current dwelling to other aspects of the life course, but other data sources may be better suited for those interested in comparative analyses of the relationship between current and previous housing.

Similar restrictions apply to the comparative study of residential mobility using the two data sets -

- to the extent that residential mobility is related to the characteristics of both dwellings, SIPP does not collect the data needed. Moreover, both panels employ strict nondisclosure polices to protect the anonymity of respondents so that studies of intra and interregional patterns of mobility are hampered.

These problems aside, one should not underestimate the importance of the available data and how much this adds to the potential for comparative research. At an absolute minimum both SIPP and SEP offer for each panel member for the entire observation period a month by month record of whether an individual has remained at the same address. For a number of purposes, for example research on marital separation or changes in household composition, this information is invaluable.

The two studies differ in the techniques used to collect data on residential mobility (SIPP relies on a topical module, while SEP uses a special version of the household questionnaire for households at new addresses), but in many ways the data they obtain is similar. Both studies also provide subjective information concerning the motivation for moves. All SEP reference persons who move during the panel are asked why the household moved. All SIPP respondents are asked during the Part C of the wave 8 topical module ("Migration History") to describe the reasons for their last move, to date this move and the previous occupancy spell. At the beginning of the panel SEP household reference persons were asked how long they have occupied their current dwelling so that analyses of tenure at the current address using either data set are not hampered by left-censoring. SEP asks respondents if they live in the same area as during their childhood and SIPP asks respondents to identify where they were born. Thus both data sets offer rough measures of lifetime mobility, limited in the same way: except for the very young or those who have never or rarely moved before the panels began there is a gap in respondents' mobility histories.

Education

Education is yet another area where the SEP and SIPP panels would serve as excellent sources of data for an international comparative study. This information not only covers the period of direct observation, but also extends retrospectively to include important educational events that occurred prior to the start of the panel. Both panels record not only the highest level of education completed by respondents but when schooling was completed. Using this information one may go beyond explanation of the level of education to consider the timing of school leaving. For other purposes this information allows education to be used as a time-varying independent variable and not simply a background characteristic.

The biographical information collected in the first wave of the SEP serves as the basis for reconstructing an individuals educational history. Beginning with the fifteenth year of his or her

¹⁴Since this information in SEP was collected during the household interview, datinc occupancy spells of other persons in the household may present a problem.

life, each respondent is asked-whether school was attended for part or all of each year. In a separate series of questions individuals provide summary information about the type of education they have received. These questions distinguish between schooling (Schule) and vocational education and training, including higher education (Ausbildung). Respondents are also asked whether they are enrolled in school or vocational education at the time of the interview and at what level. Furthermore, as part of the activity calendar, all respondents are asked to indicate the months in the previous calendar year during which they were engaged in educational activities.

All of this information is updated at each interview: respondents are asked if they are currently in school and whether they have completed a level of education in the past year. Those in school are also asked whether or not they receive federal educational assistance. The translated versions of the questionnaires for alien residents contain slightly different questions designed to provide information about education obtained abroad as well as in Germany. The activity calendar is repeated at each interview for the previous calendar year, thereby producing a month-by-month record of enrollment for the life of the panel.

As part of the household interview, information concerning the school enrollment of household members under the age of sixteen is collected from the household reference person. This information includes the type of school or day care facility attended, whether the facility is state-funded or private, and tuition costs. In addition, the wave 6 (1989) SEP topical module gathers detailed information on continuing education -- the further educational activities of adults, both general and occupation related.

The SIPP core questions concerning education are limited to whether the respondent has attended school beyond the high school level in the past four months. Those who have been enrolled are further queried as to benefits received from educational assistance programs and the costs of schooling.

Detailed educational information in the SIPP is collected as part of the topical modules in the third, sixth and ninth waves. In wave 3 respondents are asked to summarize their educational history. Those who attended four years of high school are questioned as to the type of high school program they were enrolled in and whether or not they graduated. Those who went on to college are asked when they began college, when they received their degree and their principle field of study. Those who have attended vocational education and training programs are asked to identify the setting (e.g. business school, the military or correspondence courses), when the most recent training began, who paid for it and how long it lasted. These persons were also asked whether this training was of use for their most recent job. Further questions are asked of those who have participated in CETA, WIN, Job Corps or Trade Adjustment Assistance Act programs since 1982.

A shorter series of questions concerning education are part of the wave 6 and wave 9 topical modules. These questions focus on school enrollment during the preceding twelve months, including the level of school attended, the costs involved and any educational benefits received

including scholarships. The wave 6 topical module also updates the vocational educational information gathered in wave 3.

Health and Disability

On the whole, collecting longitudinal data concerning health and disability play a more important role in SEP than SIPP. Apart from the wave 3 topical module, the data on health and disability collected in SIPP concentrates on program participation, including private health insurance, and the receipt of benefits. In SEP, on the other hand, none of the topical modules focuses on health and disability, but a considerable amount of information, including whether an individual is disabled or suffers from chronic illnesses, health insurance and utilization of the health care system, is gathered on a regular basis as part of the core questionnaire.

The SEP core questionnaire section on health begins with a selfassessment of the extent one's physical condition limits daily activities and whether one suffers from chronic ailments or illnesses. Respondents are then asked how often they have seen a physician in the past three months -- with the answers broken down according to the type of specialist involved. Respondents are to report the number of hospital stays and the total number of nights they spent in a hospital during the past calendar year. They are also asked to indicate how many days they were unable to work in the past year due to health reasons. Additionally, whether a person is officially labeled as disabled and the degree of disability is determined each year. Respondents are further queried as to the type of health insurance they have, the monthly contributions they pay and the number of coinsured persons.

In the context of other questions SEP panel members are also asked how satisfied they are with the state of their health (0 to 10 scale). Persons out of work are further questioned as to whether disability or health reasons played a part in the termination of their most recent employment spell. Finally, as part of the household questionnaire, reference persons are asked whether someone in their household needs regular personal care. If this is the case, further information concerning the type of care required, and whether or not the caregiver is a relative or .household member is collected. Additional questions regarding the resulting burden on the household, financial and otherwise, were asked in wave 4.

As part of the core questionnaire all SIPP respondents are asked whether they have a physical, mental or other health condition that limits the amount or kind of employment they may pursue. Unemployed SIPP respondents are further asked whether they are not working or looking for work due to a physical disability or other health reasons. Information on Medicare, Medicaid and health insurance coverage is also collected during each interview.

The wave 3 topical module looks more broadly at health. Individuals are asked to evaluate their overall health and if they would have difficulty with several tasks (e.g., such as climbing stairs or walking three blocks). Persons who need help with housework, personal hygiene or getting around the house are asked who provides this assistance and who pays for it. Individuals are

asked about the number of visits to the doctor and hospital stays in the past twelve months. Specific information about respondents' health insurance coverage is also collected.

The data collected by SIPP and SEP regarding health and disability converge quite closely at several points. To begin with both panels pay careful attention to health insurance or public programs as a means to cover the costs of health care. A simple comparison between the two countries concerning the extent of coverage would provide very little new information. However, combined with other data collected by the two panels these data are potentially quite valuable.

For example, though it is widely accepted that universal comprehensive health insurance should mitigate the socioeconomic consequences of illness, there is little microdata to support this contention. With these two data sets one has the opportunity to consider the impact of illness or hospitalization on employment and the extent to which insurance coverage facilitates reintegration in the labor force. Moreover, both panels provide the means to measure illness subjectively (self-assessments of impairment) and objectively (number of doctor visits and hospital stays). The data provided by both studies concerning semi-professional and non-professional care looks at a long-neglected component of the health care system. A comparative approach may reveal what determines how care of this type is provided and, in particular, what role financial incentives play in determining whether care is provided by family members.

Retirement and Pensions

Certainly there are alternate data sources in the US and the FRG that focus more closely on the retirement system and employ a larger sample. These data may better serve some researchers, particularly those interested in descriptive analyses. However, they lack the longitudinal perspective offered by SIPP and SEP and the detailed information concerning other areas of respondents' lives and the household context in which they live. Each panel offers researchers the opportunity to study the transition into retirement in relationship to an individuals life course and the activities of other household members. Moreover, the overall similarity between the two data sets extends to the information they collect regarding retirement and pensions.

Researchers familiar with the SIPP data collected on retirement benefits and pensions may be misled by the relatively small number of SEP variables connected with this topic. The difference, however, lies with the subject matter itself: the system of retirement benefits in the FRG is far less complex than in the US. Less information is needed in the FRG to determine, the contributions paid by those currently in the work farce, as well as the benefits received by those who have retired.¹⁵

¹⁵The vast majority of German employees, white collar (Angestellte) and blue collar (Arbeiter), contribute to and later receive retirement benefits (eine Rente) from the state obligatory retirement insurance system. The major exception are state officials (Beamte) who receive a pension (eine Pension) through their own pension system. Company pension plans, in contrast to the US, are only of minor significance.

To begin with, the SEP data include a continuous record of the timing of retirement. The retrospective life history data collected during wave 1 includes the years of retirement before 1983. This calendar is then updated at each interview and involvement in a number of activities, including retirement, is dated on a monthly basis. Likewise, beginning with 1983 there is a continuous record of the months in which respondents received income from a pension or retirement fund as well as the average monthly amount of the payments received. This information is separately available for widow(er)'s and orphan's benefits.

In addition, persons not employed at the start of the panel are asked if this is due to retirement from their most recent job. All persons not working at the time of the first interview, including retirees, are asked a number of questions about their last job, including type of employment, firm size and the length of employment. Individuals receiving retirement benefits or pensions are asked about the source of the pension, so that those who do receive company pensions may be identified. However, if an individual receives a company pension, there is no way to tell whether the pension derives from the most recent employment spell. Finally, employed persons are asked whether they were required to make contributions to the obligatory retirement insurance system. ¹⁶ Respondents are also asked if they made additional voluntary contributions to this system and the amount of these contributions is recorded.

Along with updating the retirement and benefit calendars and information concerning contributions, additional information concerning retirement and pension benefits was collected in subsequent waves. Each year new retirees are identified and persons who begin to receive benefits are asked about the source of their benefits. In waves 2 and 4 currently employed persons were asked whether they were or had been involved in a company pension plan. Beginning with wave 3 persons receiving benefits are asked to provide the amount received from each type of retirement or pension benefit. Finally, as part of the wave 4 topical module, respondents aged 50 or older were asked about their future retirement plans, while all respondents were asked about their attitudes toward different aspects of social insurance including retirement benefits.

Looking at the SIPP data, information collected as part of the core questionnaire provides a highly comparable source of data for the analysis of the retirement benefits during the panel. Persons receiving retirement benefits are identified and recipiency in each month is broken down by the type of benefit. As is the case with earned income, the amounts received are reported for each month and not as a monthly average as in SEP. Recipiency and amounts of survivor's benefits can easily be distinguished.

Useful data for comparative analyses of retirement benefits and pensions is also collected in the+topical modules. Persons not working at the time of the wave 3 interview provide information about their most recent job, including when they stopped working, type of job and type of firm.

¹⁶The amount contributed can be easily estimated since it is a function of monthly earnings. These earnings are reported during the panel period and can be imputed for the time before the panel began.

Further detail is obtained from those who stop working in 1983 or 1984, including firm size, tenure, earnings, and the reason for ending employment. Individuals who worked their most recent job for fewer than ten years are asked about the job before the most recent.

Section 4, Part A of the wave 4 topical module (Assets and Liabilities) collects information on IRA and Keough accounts, including how long an individual has contributed and their current value. Respondents are also to report the current face value of any life insurance they hold. Section 4, Part B looks specifically at retirement and pension coverage for persons aged and older. AS in SEP employed respondents are asked when they expect to retire; SIPP asks this question of persons aged 40 to 65, while SEP asks those age 50 or older. These respondents are further asked about future social security eligibility and the number of years employed in jobs covered by social security.

A series of questions then follow for all employed persons aged 25 or older. For first and second jobs, respondents are asked about the size of the firm, whether there is a retirement plan, if they are a member and if not, why not. Persons covered by company retirement plans are asked about the type of plan, the basis for benefits, the amount of contributions and how long they have been in the plan. Persons aged 40 to 65 years are then asked about benefits from a previous job.

Persons already receiving benefits are queried about how these benefits were acquired. They report on the type of firm and its size, the amount of work the benefits are based upon (number of years, weeks per year and hours per week), as well as when they left the job, what they were earning when they left, and when they began receiving benefits. They are further asked about the basis for the benefits received (years of service and pay or contributions) and whether or not the benefits are adjusted for the cost of living.

Part B of the wave 6 topical module reviews property income and taxes for the calendar year 1984 and includes information on IRAs and Keough accounts: the amounts of contributions, withdrawals, earnings and the types of assets involved. Respondents are further queried as to participation in salary reduction plans (401K). Similar information for the calendar year 1985 is obtained in the wave 9 topical module. The wave 7 topical module updates wave 4 information on IRAs and Keough accounts, including how long they have been held, their current market value and the types of assets involved. The wave 7 topical module also updates data collected in wave 4 on the type of pension plan coverage, contributions paid and benefits received. If a respondent has changed employers since wave 4, information is collected concerning the new firm, including firm size, availability of a company pension plan and whether or not the respondent is covered by such a plan.

These data are adequate to conduct a number of interesting comparative analyses of retirement and pension benefits. First, one could look at differences in the timing of retirement between the two countries. One could go beyond chronological age and consider how timing is related to previous work history, including the amount of time work and the type of work performed. or, one could look at persons currently receiving benefits and consider characteristics of the previous

life course that predict the level of benefits received. Analyses of this type for women would be particularly interesting, since the explanatory factors could include marital and fertility histories, as well as labor force participation. or, one could compare persons currently employed in the two countries and consider their expectations for retirement and their current sacrifices towards this end. These suggestions are by no means exhaustive but should demonstrate the breadth of comparative analyses concerning retirement benefits and pensions that are possible using SIPP and SEP.

Appendix 1: Variable List for German Socio-Economic Panel

	Wave 1 1984	Wave 2 1985		Wave 3 1986		Wave 4 1987		Wave 5 1988	
HOUSEHOLD QUESTIONNAIRE (Respondent: head of household)		G	В	G	В	G	В	G	В
Reference group: all respondents									
Household composition Each household member by first name birth year, sex, relationship to head of household, reason for temporary absence from household	1*	AP*	AP*	AP*	AP*	AP*	AP*	AP*	AP*
Total number of persons in household	AP*	AP*	AP*	AP*	AP*	AP*	AP*	AP*	AP*
Change in household composition since the last interview (Wave 1: since January 1 of prior year)	2*	AP*		AP*		AP*		AP*	
Change of formation of household (in wave 1 only for new households since January 1 of the prior year)	3*		AP-		AP-		AP-		AP-
Household members who joined since the prior interview (month and year joined)	4*	AP*	AP-	AP*	AP-	AP*	AP*	AP*	AP*
Household members who have left the household since the prior interview (month and year)	5*	AP*		AP*		AP*	AP*	AP*	AP*
Whether children under 16 years of age in household	6*	1*	1*	1*	1*	1*	1*	1/2*	1/2*
Birth month of children under 16					2*	2*			
Type of school attended, for Children under 16 years of age	7A*	2+	2+	2*	2*	3*	3*	3*	3*
Sponsor of school/day care facility						4*	4*		
Monthly cost of school/day care facility						5*	5*		
Persons outside the household who care for children						6*	6*		
Nationality of children under 16 years of age for households with non-German heads	7B*					3 A +	3A+		
Whether any household member requires care by someone else	8*	3*	3*	3*	3*	7/8*	7/8*	4*	4*
Type of care required		4A*	4A*	4A*	4B*	9+	9+	5A*	5A*
Relationship of person providing care		4B*	4B*	4B*	4B*	10+	10+	5B*	5B*
Burden on the household						11*	11*		
If extra help is needed, who should provide the care						12*	12*		

Appendix 1: Variable List for German Socio-Economic Panel (Continued)

	Wave 1 1984		Wave 2 1985 G	В	Wave 3 1986 G	В	Wave 4 1987 G	В	Wave 5 1988 G	В
Special costs associated with care						13*	13*			
Level of monthly costs and who pays them							14*	14*		
Housing Type of building	AP*		(2)	AP*	(2)	AP*	(2)	AP*	(2)	AP*
Type of institution	AP*		(2)	AP-	(2)	AP*	(2)	AP*	(2)	AP*
Type of neighborhood AP*		(2)	AP*	(2)	AP*	(2)	AP*	(2)	AP*	
Whether plans to move within the next 12 months	12/13*		5-	5-						
In which house was built	9*		(2)	9*	(2)	18*	(2)	18*	(2)	9*
Whether dwelling needs repairs	10*		(2)	10*	(2)	19*	(2)	19*	(2)	10*
Year in which occupancy of dwelling began (month is also coded for dwellings first occupied after wave 1')	11*		(2)	6*	(2)	15*	(2)	15*	(2)	6*
Main reason for moving				7*		16*		16*		7*
Comparison of new dwelling with prior dwelling				8*		17*		17*		8*
Size of housing unit in square meters	14*		7*	12*	15/16*	21*	15/16*	21*	6/7*	12*
Number of rooms	15*		(2)	13*	(2)	22*	(2)	22*	(2)	13*
Adequacy of living space in housing unit	16*		6*	14*	17*	23*	17*	23*	8*	14*
Characteristics of housing unit	17*		(2)	11*	(2)	20*	(2)	20*	(2)	11*
Type of remodeling within the last year			8*							
Who paid for remodeling			9*							
Whether remodeling was done by the individual or a company			10*							
Housing status: owner or renter	18*		20*	15*	24*	24*	18*	24	9*	15*
Neighborhood Distance to center of nearest city					5*	5*				
Accessibility of school, shops, public transportation etc.					6*	6*				
Whether bothersome noise level in neighborhood					7*	7*				
Whether bo thersome air pollution				8*	8*					

Appendix 1: Variable List for German Socio-Economic Panel (Continued)

Wave 1	Wave 2	Wave 3	Wave 4	Wave 5

	1984		1985 G	В	1986 G	В	1987 G	В	1988 G	В
Social status of the household in comparison with neighbors					9*	9*				
Degree of segregation: How many other non-Germans live in neighborhood					10*	10*				
Nationality of other non-German neighborhood residents (4)					108*	108*				
Degree of contact with neighbors				11*	11*					
Whether visits with neighbors socially					12*	12*				
Frequency of social visits					13*	13*				
Degree of satisfaction with neighborhood					14*	14*				
Reference group: renters										
Monthly rent including all utilities except heat and hot water 19*		21*	16*	26*	26*	19*	26*	10*	17*	
Monthly costs of heat and hot water					27*	27*	20*	27*	11*	18*
Whether rent is reduced by landlord (e.g., employer or relatives)					25*	25*	(2)	25*	(2)	16*
Whether rent is too high	20*		22*	17*	28*	28*	21*	28*	12*	19*
Whether remodeling done by anyone in the household	21*		(2)	19-	(2)	30-	(2)	30*	(2)	21*
Whether any improvements were purchased from prior tenant	22*		(2)	20*	(2)	31*	(2)	31*	(2)	22*
Whether government subsidized housing	23*		(2)	13*	(2)	29*	(2)	29*	(2)	20*
Reference group: owners										
Means of acquisition of dwelling 24*		(2)	21*	(2)	32*	(2)	32*	(2)	23*	
Whether government subsidized housing payments	25*		(2)	22*	(2)	33*	(2)	33*	(2)	24*
Monthly housing costs or principal/ interest for utilities except heat	26*		23*	23*	34*	34*	34*	34*	25*	25*
Costs for water, garbage removal, street cleaning etc.			24*	24*	35*	35*	35*	35*	26*	26*
Maintenance costs for prior year			25*	25*	36*	36*	36*	36*	27*	27*
Heat and hot water costs for the prior year					37*	37*	37*	37*	28*	28*
Whether housing costs are too high	27*		26*	26*	38*	38*	38*	38*	29*	29*
	Appendix	x 1: Variab	le List for	German So	ocio-Econor	mic Panel (Continued)		
	Wave 1 1984		Wave 2 1985 G	В	Wave 3 1986 G	В	Wave 4 1987 G	В	Wave 5 1988 G	В

Imputed rent			27*	27*	39*	39*	39*	39*	30*	30*
Reference group: all respondents										
Transfer payments, income and assets of the household in the prior calendar year Government housing subsidies: (Number of months received and monthly amount)			28*	28*	40*	40*	40*	40*	31*	31*
Number of children for whom governmental child allowance received	31*		33*	33*	45*	45*	45*	45*	36*	36*
Monthly amount of governmental child allowance			33*	33*	45*	45*	45*	45*	36*	36*
Whether social welfare assistance received	32*		29*	29*	41*	41*	41*	41*	32*	32*
Regular subsistance assistance:										
(Number of months received monthly amount)	33/35*		30*	30*	42*	42*	42*	42*	33*	33*
Special circumstances assistance: (Number of months received and monthly amount)	36/37*		31*	31*	43*	43*	43*	43*	34*	34*
Whether lump sum assistance	38*		32*	32*	44*	44*	44*	44*	35*	35*
Owner of real estate other than primary dwelling 39*										
Annual gross income from rent received	40/41*		34/35*	34/35*	46/47*	46/47*	46/47*	46/47*	37/38*	37/38*
Annual expenses (mortgage and maintenance) on property from which rents are received	42*		36*	36*	48*	48*	48*	48*	39*	39*
Whether assets other than real estate	43*		37*	37*	49*	49*	49*	49*	40*	40*
Annual gross income from interest and dividends 44/45	*	38*	38*	50*	50*	50*	50*	41*	41*	
Monthly net income of the household at time of interview	46*		39*	39*	51*	51*	51*	51*	42*	42*

	Wave 1 1984	Wave 2 1985 G	В	Wave 3 1986 G	В	Wave 4 1987 G	В	Wave 5 1988 AI
Asset Inventory Ownership of dwelling in which one lives								1
Book value of dwelling								1A
Market value of dwelling								18
Ownership of other dwellings or land								2
Type of dwelling or land owned								2A
Type of dwelling or Land owned in country of origin (4)								2A
Market value of dwelling or land								2B
Market value of dwelling or land country of origin (4)								2B
Owner of agricultural business								3
Size of agricultural business and type of ownership							3A	
Type of agricultural business								3B
Business ownership								4
Type of business								4A
Market value of business								4B
Amount of savings								5/5A
Home ownership savings plan								6/6A
Ownership of stocks and bonds								7/7A
Private life insurance for persons in the household (up to 3 policies)							8/8A	
Year in which life insurance policy taken out								8B
Original amount of policy								8C
Size of monthly premium								8D
Age of payment in the event of survival								8E
Credit obligations to banks, savings and loan associations, employer or private persons (amount of outstanding debt) Total value of net assets								9
Total value of net assets in country of origin (4)								10

	Wave 1 1984	Wave 2 1985 G	В	Wave 3 1986 G	В	Wave 4 1987 G	В	Wave 5 1988 AI
Inheritance since 1960, person in household receiving the inheritance (up to 3 inheritances)								11/11A
Year of the inheritance								11B
Type of property inherited								11C
Value of inheritance at time received								11D
Type of property ownership between spouses (3)								12A
Contractual arrangement of property ownership between unmarried persons living together (3)								12B
Type of property in country of origin (4)								12

 ${\bf Appendix\ 1:\ Variable\ List\ for\ German\ Socio\text{-}Economic\ Panel\ (Continued)}$

		Wave 1 1984		Wave 2 1985 G	В	Wave 3 1986 G	В	Wave 4 1987 G	В	Wave 5 1988 G	В
INDIVIDUAL QUESTIONNAIR (Respondents: all household mem 16 Years and older)											
Reference group: all respondents											
<u>Labor force participation</u> Present employment status		8*		9/16*	9/16*	5/16*	5/16*	5/12*	5/12*	5/12*	5/12*
Employment during prior calenda year	r	36*		55*	55*	55*	55*	55*	55*	50*	50*
Characteristics of extra jobs				3*	3*	3-	3-	3*	3*	3*	3*
Time spent on extra jobs				4*	4*	4*	4*	4*	4*	4*	4*
Type of work done around the hor	me					6*	6*	7*	7*	6*	6*
Estimated value of work done around the house					7*	7*			7*	7*	
Estimated cost of materials for work done around the house						8*	8*			8*	8*
Reference group: Those employed at time of interview	<u>ed</u>										
<u>Current job</u> Month & year hired by present em	nployer	23*		44*	44*	(1)	35*	(1)	33*	33*	33*
Occupation (ISCO code)		24*		(1)	30*	(1)	30*	(1)	28*	(1)	28*
Whether the present job is the one for which you are specially trained (European job training system)		25*		(1)	31*	(1)	31*	(1)	29*	(1)	29*
Industry (3-digit code)	26*		(1)	33*	(1)	33*	(1)	31*	(1)	31*	
Number of employees of the whole firm	27*		(1)	34*	(1)	34*	(1)	32*	(1)	32*	
Type of occupation (white-collar, blue collar, self-employed, etc.)	28*		38*	38*	46*	46*	38*	38*	38*	38*	
Type of training required for the jo	ob	29*		(1)	32*	(1)	32*	(1)	30*	(1)	30*
Regularly scheduled weekly work hours, not including overtime	:	30*		40*	40*	47*	47*	40*	40*	39*	39*
Average actual weekly work hour including overtime (overtime pay or comp-time)	s,	31*		41*	41*	48*	48*	41*	41*	40*	40*
Reasons for part-time employmen	t							42*	42*		

	Wave 1 1984		Wave 2 1985 G	В	Wave 3 1986 G	В	Wave 4 1987 G	В	Wave 5 1988 G	В
Preferences regarding overtime									43*	43*
Actual overtime hours worked In the last month					49*	49*			41*	41*
Type of compensation for overtime	32*		42*	42*	50*	50*			42*	42*
Overtime allowance, percent					51*	51*				
Preferred weekly work hours			36*	36*	41*	41*	45*	45*	47*	47*
Gross and net wages/ salaries in the last month	33*		43*	43*	52*	52*	44*	44*	44*	44*
Personal commitment to employment			35*	35*	40*	40*			46*	46*
Expectations about future employment			37*	37*			46*	46*		
Evidence of finding equivalent employment							47*	47*	45*	45*
Working conditions (13 indicators)			39*	39*			39*	39*		
Duration of employment contract		45*	45*	(1)	36*	(1)	34*	34*	34*	
Whether company retirement plan available			46*	46*	(2)	37*	(2)	35*	35*	35*
Whether currently covered by company retirement plan with present employer			47*	47*	(2)	38*	(2)	36*	35*	35*
Whether covered by company retirement plan with a prior employer			48*	48*	(2)	39*	(2)	37*	35*	35*
Number of kilometers to present job (one way)			49*	49*						
Mode of transportation			50*	50*						
Length of time of commute to work (hours, minutes)			51*	51*						
Satisfaction level with commute to work			52*	52*						
Reference group: Those out of labor force/ unemployed and looking for work at the time of the interview										
Most recent job Whether ever employed	9*		21-	21-	21-	21-	19*	19*	19*	19*
Reason for leaving most recent job	10*		(1)		(1)		(1)		(1)	
Whether previously employed full time, part time or less	11*		(2)	22*	(2)	22*	(2)	20*	(2)	20*
Beginning/ending years of last job 12*		(2)	21-	(2)	21-	(2)	19*	(2)	19*	
Past occupation (ISCO Code)	13*		(2)		(2)		(2)		(2)	

Wave 1	Wave 2	Wave 3	Wave 4	Wave 5
wave i	vv ave 2	vv ave 3	vv avc +	vv ave 3

		1984		1985 G	В	1986 G	В	1987 G	В	1988 G	В
Industry (3-digit code)	14*		(2)	23-	(2)	23-	(2)	21*	(2)	21*	
Number of employees of the whole	firm	15*		(2)		(2)		(2)		(2)	
Type of occupation (white collar, blue collar, self-employed etc.)		16*		(2)	24*	(2)	24*	(2)	22*	(2)	22*
Type of training and qualifications required for the job		17*		(2)		(2)		(2)		(2)	
Future employment plans Whether plans to be employed		18*		17*	17*	170	17*	14*	14*	14*	14*
When do you plan to be employed		19*		18*	18*	18*	18*	15*	15*	15*	15*
Whether desires full time, part time	e, etc.	20*		19*	19*	19*	19*	16*	16*	16*	16*
Whether immediately available for	work	21*		20*	20*	20*	20*	18*	18*	18*	18*
Chance of finding an appropriate p	osition							13*	13*	13*	13*
Desired net income								17*	17*	17*	17*
Reference group: Continuing respo with job changes since the beginning prior calendar year											
Job change Type, month and year of job/position	on change		22*		22*		20*		20+		
Month and year Last job ended				23*		23*		21*		21*	
Length of time spent on last job (years and months)				24*		24*		22*		22*	
Mode of termination of job				25*		25*		23*		23*	
Reason for leaving most recent job				26*		26*		24*		24*	
Past vs. present job comparisons				27*		27*		25*		25*	
Whether present job better uses ski	lls			28*		28*		26*		26*	
Way in which present job was foun	d			29*		29*		27*		27*	
Reference group: employed person: 50 Years of age and older	<u>s</u>										
Transition to retirement Expected retirement age								48*	48*		
Subjective reasons for retirement							49*	49*			
Would work part-time if compensa for lower wages through early payment of retirement benefits	ted							50*	50*		
If so at what age								51*	51*		

Wave 1	Wave 2	Wave 3	Wave 4	Wave 5
1984	1985	1986	1987	1988

			G	В	G	В	G	В	G	В
And at what age would you retire fully							52*	52*		
Reference group: all respondents										
Employment history Whether registered with unemployment bureau within the last ten years (Frequency and total months)	34*		(2)		(2)		(2)		(2)	
Number of employers within the last ten years	35*		(2)		(2)		(2)		(2)	
Employment history since age 15 62*		(2)	NB(1)	(2)	NB(1)	(2)	NB(1)	(2)	NB(1)	
First job Age began first job					10*	10*	(2)	NB(16)	(2)	NB(16)
Occupation - first job (ISCO Code)					11*	11*	(2)	NB(18)	(2)	NB(18)
Type of occupation (white collar, blue collar, self-employed etc.)					12*	12*	(2)	NB(17)	(2)	NB(17)
Whether changed occupation (once/more than once)				13*	13*	(2)	NB(19)	(2)	NB(19)	
Age at which began working in most recent occupation					13*	13*	(2)	NB(19)	(2)	NB(19)
Labor income and transfer payments in prior calendar Year Months received and average monthly gross amount of: - wages and salaries - self-employment income - income from extra job - retirement income from own work - retirement income through survivors, rights - student grant - maternity grant (including private insurance payments) - unemployment compensation unemployment benefit extension - occupation readjustment/ retraining benefit - financial help from private individuals	37/38		57/58	57/58	57/58	57/58	57/58	57/58	52/52	52/53
Bonuses for employees, monthly amount of - extra (13th) month bonus - extra (14th) month bonus - additional Christmas bonus - vacation bonus - commissions, profit-sharing - other such income	39*		59*	59*	59*	59*	59*	59*	54*	54*

${\bf Appendix\ 1:\ Variable\ List\ for\ German\ Socio\text{-}Economic\ Panel\ (Continued)}$

Wave 1	Wave 2	Wave 3	Wave 4	Wave 5
1984	1985	1986	1987	1988

		G	В	G	В	G	В	G	В
Short-time work payment/ Bad weather compensation (number of weeks)	40*	60*	60*	60*	60*	60*	60*	55*	55*
Retirement and pensions Whether receives retirement/pension		10*	10*						
Type of retirement income/pension	41*	11*	11*	61-	61-	61*	61*	56*	56*
Year first received such income		12*	12*	(2)					
Institution from which retirement income/pension is received	41*	13*	13*	61-	61-	61*	61*	56*	56*
Monthly gross amount of retirement income/pension			61*	61*	61*	61*	56*	56*	
Whether has voluntarily contributed to retirement/pension fund in prior year (Number of months & monthly amount)	44*	64*	64*	64*	64*	64*	64*	59*	59*
Employer payments to retirement fundLess than 35 hours/week worked						43*	43*		
<u>Health insurance in prior year</u> Type of membership	42*	62*	62*	62*	62*	62*	62*	57*	57*
Type of health Insurance company or organization (For private coverage: monthly premium and number of persons covered)	43*	63*	63*	63*	63*	63*	63*	58*	58*
<u>Taxes</u> Whether taxable income received 45*									
Amount of adjustment to tax withholding	46A*	61*	61*						
Total amount of income tax in previous year	46B*								
Whether taxable income received two years before the year of the interview		66*	66*	66*	66*	66*	66*	61*	61*
Filing status two years before the year of the interview		67*	67*	67*	67*	67*	67*	62*	62*
Total amount of income tax two years before the year of the interview		68*	68*	68*	68*	68*	68*	63*	63*
Support payments Support of other persons outside the household (3)	47*	65*	65*	65*	65*	65*	65*	60*	60*
Education Whether receiving schooling or training Type of schooling or training	4* 5*	14* 15*	14* 15*	14* 15*	14* 15*	10* 11*	10* 11*	10* 11*	10* 11*
	Appendix 1: Varia	ble List for	German S	ocio-Econo	omic Panel	(Continued	l)		
	Wave 1 1984	Wave 2 1985		Wave 3 1986		Wave 4 1987		Wave 5 1988	
		G	В	G	В	G	В	G	В

Highest grade completed (3)	6*		(2)	91*	(2)	94*	(2)	96*	(2)	85*
Type of training received (3)	7*		(2)	92*	(2)	95*	(2)	97*	(2)	86*
Whether qualifying exam or graduation in prior year			53*	53*	53*	53*	53*	53*	48*	48*
Type of qualifying exam or graduation in prior year			54*	54*	54*	54*	54*	54*	49*	49*
Time use										
In hours during weekdays/Sundays for various activities	1*		2*	2*	2*	2*	2*	2*	2*	2*
Frequency of recreational activities	2*		7-	7-	9-	9-			9*	9*
Vacation days used in prior year			56*	56*	56*	56*	56*	56*	51*	51*
Health Degree to which health hinders daily activities	48*		69*	69*	69*	69*	69*	69*		
Whether chronic health condition 49*		70*	70*	70*	70*	70*	70*	67*	67*	
		70	70	, 0	, 0	70	, 0	07	07	
Frequency of doctor visits and type of doctor	50*		71*	71*	71*	71*	71*	71*	71-	71-
Amount of time spent in hospital in prior year	51*		72*	72*	72*	72*	72*	72*	69*	69*
Days not worked due to illness			73*	73*	73-	73-	73*	73*	70*	70*
Is treatment of hospital due to occupational accident in last year						74*	74*	71*	71*	
Date of visit to rehabilitative spa and who paid for the stay							75*	75*	72+	72+
Percent disability	52*		74*	74*	(2)	74*	6*	6*	66*	66*
Satisfaction with a selection of life circumstances	3*		1*	1*	1*	1*	1+	1+	1+	1+
with life as a whole (present, post, future)										
German questionnaire 63*		93*	93*	96*	96*	98*	98*	89-	89-	
Non-German questionnaire	63*		104*	104*	104*	104*				
Politics Degree of interest in politics			75*	75*	75*	75*	34*	84*	73*	73*
Worries	54*		77*	77*	77*	77*	89*	89*	78*	78*
Intrusiveness of state	53*		76*	76*	76*	76*				
Degree of government expenditures (3)						85*	85*	74*	74*	
	Append	lix 1: Varia	ble List for	German S	ocio-Econo	mic Panel	(Continued	1)		
	Wave 1 1984		Wave 2 1985		Wave 3 1986		Wave 4 1987		Wave 5 1988	
			G	В	G	В	G	В	G	В

Perceived degree of fairness									
in personal life (3)						82*	82*	79*	79*
Perceived degree of fairness in FRG in general (3)						83*	83*	80*	80*
Agreement with idea of democracy in general (3)						86*	86*	75*	75*
Satisfaction with idea of democracy in FRG (3)						87*	87*	76*	76*
Inglehart scale preference ordering of various political goals	55*	78*	78*	78*	78*				
Party preference	56*	79*	79*	79*	79*	88*	88*	77*	77*
Opinions concerning social security Judgement of personal financial security in case of illness, unemployment or old age						76*	76*		
Judgement of financial security of surviving household members in event of death of head of household						77*	77*		
Judgment of burden imposed by health insurance premiums						78*	78*		
Judgment of burden imposed by contributions to retirement funds						79*	79*		
Preferred social security system (3)						80*	80*		
Preferred arrangement for providing old age benefits for spouses (3)						81*	81*		
Social origins Whether parents living in household (3)				80*	80*	NB(8)	NB(8)		
Birth and death years of parents (3)				80*	80*	NB(8)	NB(8)		
Completed education of parents (3)				81*	81*	NB(9)	NB(9)		
Type of occupational training of parents (3)				82*	82*	NB(10)	NB(10)		
Whether grew up with one or both parents or other guardian (3)			83*	83*	NB(11)	NB(11)			
Labor force participation of parents (3)				84*	84*	NB(12)	NB(12)		
Labor force participation of father when respondent was 15 (3)				85*	85*	NB(13)	NB(13)		
Type of occupation (father) (white collar blue collar, self-employed etc.) (3)				86*	86*	NB(14)	NB(14)		
	Appendix 1: Varia	ıble List fo	r German S	Socio-Econo	omic Panel	(Continued	l)		
	Wave 1 1984	Wave 2 1985		Wave 3 1986		Wave 4 1987		Wave 5 1988	
		G	В	G	В	G	В	G	В
Father's occupation (ISCO Code) (3)						87*	87*	NB(15)	NB(15)

B 11 1 4 16											
Demographic characteristics Sex	57*		85*	85*	88*	88**	90*	90*	81*	81*	
Birth year	62*		81*	81*	88*	88*	90*	90*	81*	81*	
Marital status	58*		(2)	(2)	89*	89*	91*	91*	82*	82*	
Changes in marital status and other personal events in prior calendar year			80*	80*	91*	91*	93*	93*	84*	84*	
Marital history			87/88*	87/88*	(2)	NB(4)		NB(4)		NB(4)	
Whether Living with partner (not married (3)	59*		(2)		90*	90*	92*	92*	83*	83*	
Year began living together with partner					90*	90*	92*	92*	83*	83*	
Type of area lived in as a child		82*	82*			NB(5)		NB(5)		NB(5)	
Whether still living in area lived in as a child (3)		83*	83*			NB(6)		NB(6)		NB(6)	
Year left parental household		84*	84*			NB(7)		NB(7)		NB(7)	
Fertility history of women		86*	86*			NB(2)		NB(2)		NB(2)	
Second home in West-Germany . German questionnaire . Non-German questionnaire	60* 60*	90* 97*	90* 97*		93* 97*	93* 97*	95*	95*		88*	
<u>Citizenship</u> German questionnaire 61* Non-German questionnaire	89* 61*	89* 89*	89*	92*	92* 80*	94* 80*	94*	88+	87*		
Other questions Type of drivers license		5*	5*								
Availability of car		6*	6*								
Membership in labor union or professional organization		8*	8*								
Savings plan									64*	64*	
Security in old age based on cash or property assets									65*	65*	
Subgroup: Non-Germans											
Education Whether attended school in Germany and grade completed	6A*	(2)	100*		(2)	100*	(2)	97*	(2)	90*	
Whether attended school in another country and grade completed	6B*	(2)	100*		(2)	101*	(2)	98*	(2)	91*	
Appendix 1: Variable List for German Socio-Economic Panel (Continued)											
	Wave 1 Wave 2 Wave 3 Wave 4 Wave 5 1984 1985 1986 1987 1988										
	1707		G	В	G	В	G	В	G	В	
			-	_	-	_	-	_	-	-	
Type of training or qualification received in Germany Type of training received	7A*		(2)	102*	(2)	102*	(2)	99*	(2)	92*	

in another country	7B*		(2)	103*	(2)	103*	(2)	100*	(2)	93*	
Transfer payments in prior calendar year Money sent to native country	47A*		65A*	65A*	65A*	65A*	65A*	65A*	65A*	65A*	
Support given to relatives living in Germany but not in household	47B		65B*	65B*	65B*	65B*	65B*	65B*	65B*	65B*	
<u>Demographic characteristics</u> Residence of spouse	58*				90*	90*	92*	92*	85*	85*	
Land of birth	62*		(2)	98*	(2)	98*	(2)	95*	(2)	88*	
Year moved to Germany	63*		(2)	99*	(2)	99*	(2)	96*	(2)	89*	
Number and age of children in native country	66*		95*	95*	86*	86*	88*	88*			
Intended length of stay in Germany	67*		96*	96*	87*	87*	89*	89*	77*	77*	
Social origins Whether parents living in household					93*	93*		NB		NB	
Residence of parents					94*	94*		NB		NB	
Year of birth of parents					95*	95*		NB		NB	
Completed education of parents					96*	96*		NB		NB	
Planned end of employment in Germany							49*	49*			
Plans to return to native country							50*	50*			
Will you be entitled to a pension from the FRG							51*	51*			
<u>Subjective questions</u> National identification 64*		90-	90-	81-	81-	83*	83*	76/82-	76/82-		
Own judgement of language skills	65*		91*	91*	82*	82*	84*	84*			
Whether contact with Germans			92*	92*	83*	83*	85*	85*			
Whether visited Germans in their homes within the last 12 months			93*	93*	84*	84*	86*	86*			
Whether visited at home by Germans within the last 12 months			94*	94*	85*	85*	87*	87*			
Nationality of cooking practices in the household									78*	78*	
Nationality of newspapers read									79*	79*	
Nationality of music listened to									80*	80*	
Appendix 1: Variable List for German Socio-Economic Panel (Continued)											
	Wave 1 1984		Wave 2 1985		Wave 3 1986		Wave 4 1987		Wave 5 1988		
			G	В	G	В	G	В	G	В	
Gender of persons in circle of friends									81*	81*	
Family ties to circle of friends									81*	81*	

Nationality of circle of friends

81*

81*

Legend

- A Coversheet for "old" households, household questionnaire for households that didn't move since the last interview, or individual questionnaire for reinterviewed persons.
- B Coversheet for "new" households, household questionnaire for households that moved or split off, or individual questionnaire for new respondents.
- AP Coversheet.
- VB Household questionnaire "Asset Inventory".
- NUB Biographical data obtained for persons who entered the sample after the wave in which the data was originally collected.
- * Question wording is virtually identical. Slight changes were made for technical reasons.
- Question wording is somewhat different; although variables are still comparable.
- ! The question was altered conceptually; comparability is restricted.
- (1) These questions were asked only of those individuals with job changes in the prior year.
 For individuals without job changes, identical variables are available from the previous year's data.
- (2) The variables are available in the previous waves.
- (3) Not asked in non-German questionnaire.
- (4) Not asked in German questionnaire.

Appendix 2: Bibliography of SEP Literature

List of Publications by Subject Area (May, 1989)

A) Employment and Income

Bedau, Klaus-Dietrich 1988: Einkommensverteilung, in: Krupp, Schupp 1988, S. 61 - 87.

Bellmann, Lutz, Ulrich Schasse 1988: Employment Tenure in the United States and the Federal Republic of Germany, Fachbereich Wirtschaftswissenschaften, Universitaet Hannover, Diskussionspapier Nr. 123, Hannover.

Berntsen, Roland, Richard Hauser 1987a: Strukturen der Einkommensverteilung von Haushalten und Personen Ergebnisse der 1. Welle des Sozio-oekonomischen Panels 1984 und ausgewaehlte Vergleiche mit der Transferumfrage 1981, Sfb 3-Arbeitspapier Nr. 237, Frankfurt-Mannheim.

Berntsen, Roland, Richard Hauser 1987b: Strukturen der Einkommensverteilung von Haushalten und Personen, in: Krupp, Hanefeld 1987, S. 19 - 42.

Berntsen, Roland 1989: Einkommensanalysen mit den Daten des Sozio-oekonomischen Panels unter Verwendung von generierten Einkommensdaten, Sfb 3-Arbeitspapier Nr. 291, FrankfurtMannheim.

Buechtemann, Christoph F., Juergen Schupp 1986: Zur Soziooe-konomie der Teilzeitbeschaeftigung in der Bundesrepublik Deutschland - Analysen aus.der ersten Welle des "Sozio-oekonomischen Panel", Discussion Paper IIM/LMP 86-15, Wissenschaftszentrum Berlin fuer Sozialforschung, Berlin.

Buechtemann, Christoph F., Juergen Schupp 1987: Strukturen und Entwicklungsperspektiven der Teilzeitbeschaeftigung, in: Krupp, Hanefeld 1987, S. 75 - 104.

Buechtemann, Christoph F., Juergen Schupp 1988: Socio-economic Aspects of Part-Time Employment in the Federal Republic of Germany, Discussion Paper FS I 88 - 6, Wissenschaftszentrum Berlin fuer Sozialforschung, Berlin.

Buechtemann, Christoph F. 1988: Comment to Ronald G. Ehrenberg: Part-time Employment in the United States, in: Hart, Robert A. (Ed.): Employment, Unemployment and Labor Utilization, London, S. 282 - 287.

Buechtemann, Christoph F., Sigrid Quack 1989a: "Non-Standard" Employment: How Precarious is it? Evidence for the Federal Republic of Germany, Wissenschaftszentrum Berlin fuer Sozialforschung, Berlin.

Buechtemann, Christoph F., Sigrid Quack 1989b: 'Bridges' or 'Traps'? Non-Standard Forms of Employment in the Federal Republic of Germany - The Case of Part-Time and Temporary Work, Wissenschaftszentrum Berlin fuer Sozialforschung, Berlin.

.Dagsvik, John K., Kari Holst, Steinar Stroem, Gerhard Wagenhals, Jannike Oestervold 1988: Female Labor Supply in West-Germany 1984, Universitaet Heidelberg, Wirtschaftswissenschaftliche Fakultaet, Diskussionsschriften Nr. 122, Heidelberg.

Deutsches Institut fuer Wirtschaftsforschung 1987: Exportgetriebener Strukturwandel bei schwachem Wachstum Analyse der strukturellen Entwicklung der deutschen Wirtschaft, Strukturberichterstattung 1987, Kapitel V.1, V.III.6, Berlin.

Essen, Ulrich van, Helmut Kaiser, P. Bernd Spahn 1988: Verteilungswirkungen der Einkommensteuerreformen 1986-1990 - Eine Simulationsstudie fr die BRD auf der Basis des Soziooekonomischen Panels, Sfb 3-Arbeitspapier Nr. 262, Frankfurt-Mannheim; reprinted in: Finanzarchiv, Heft 1, S.56 - 84.

Essen, Ulrich van, Thomas Kassella, Martin Landua 1986: Ein Simulationsmodell der Einkommenbesteuerung auf der Basis des Sozio-oekonomischen Panels, Sfb 3-Arbeitspapier Nr. 188, Frankfurt-Mannheim.

Essen, Ulrich van, Thomas Kassella 1988: Die Einkommensangaben im Sozio-konomischen Panel des Sonderforschungsbereiches 3 und ihre Relevanz ' fuer steuerpolitische Simulationen, in: Reich, Utz-Peter (ed.): Aufgaben und Probleme der Einkommensstatistik - Erstellung, Nutzung, Interpretation, Sonderhefte zum Allgemeinen Statistischen Archiv, Heft 26, S. 133 - 166.

Galler, Heinz P. 1984: Modellierung beruflicher Mobilitaetsprozesse mit Panel-Daten, in: vierteljahrshefte zur Wirtschaftsforschung, Heft 4,S. 458 - 469.

Gerlach, Knut, Olaf Huebler 1987: Personalnebenkosten, Beschfaetigtenzahl und Arbeitsstunden aus neoklassischer und institutionalistischer Sicht, in: Buttler, Friedrich, Knut Gerlach, Rudi Schmiede (ed.): Arbeitsmarkt und Beschfaetigung - Neuere Beitraege zur institutionalistischen Arbeitsmarktanalyse, Frankfurt - New York, S. 291 - 331.

Gerlach, Knut, Heike Kehlbeck 1988: Regionale Unterschiede der Arbeitseinkommen - Eine empirische Ueberprfung der Humankapitaltheorie, in: Veroeffentlichungen der Akademie fuer Raumforschung und Landesplanung, Forschungs - und Sitzungsberichte, Band 168, Analyse regionaler Arbeitsmarktprobleme, Hannover, S. 239 - 283.

Gerlach, Knut, Ulrich Schasse 1988: On-The-Job Training Differences by Sex and Firm Size, SAMF-Arbeitspapier Nr. 1988-5, Paderborn.

Habich, Roland 1987: Wege der Stellenfindung und berufliche Plazierung, in: Deeke, Axel, Joachim Fischer, Ursula Schilmm-Garling (ed.): Arbeitsmarktbewegung als sozialer Prozess, SAMF-Arbeitspapier Nr. 3, Paderborn, S. 143 - 173.

Helberger, Christof 1987: Zur Reprsentativitaet des Sozio-oekonomischen Panels am Beispiel der Ergebnisse zur Struktur der Erwerbstaetigen, in: Krupp, Hanefeld 1987, S. 273 - 294.

Helberger, Christof 1988a: Die Struktur der Erwerbstaetigen im sozio-oekonomischen Panel im Vergleich mit der amtlichen Erwerbsstatistik, in: Zeitschrift fuer Wirtschafts - und Sozialwissenschaften, Heft 2, S. 227 - 245.

Helberger, Christof 1988b: Eine Ueberprfung der Linearitaetsannahme der Humankapitaltheorie, in: Bodenhoefer, Hans-Joachim (Hrsg.): Bildung und Arbeitsmarkt, Berlin-Muenchen (erscheint demnaechst).

Holst, Kari, Steinar Strom, Gerhard Wagenhals, Jannike Ostervold 1988: Female Labor Supply and Taxes in the Federal Republic of Germany, 1984, Memorandum from Department of Economics, University of Oslo, Nr. 5, Oslo.

Huebler, Olaf 1988: Job Changes and Wages, Paper presented at the Conference on New Issues in Wages, Non-Wages and Employment, Corsendonk, Belgium, 23 Seiten.

Huebler, Olaf 1989a: Individual Overtime Functions With Double Correction For Selectivity Bias, in: Economics Letters, Nr. 29, North-Holland, S. 87 - 90.

Huebler, Olaf 1989b: Langfristiges, altersspezifisches Mobilitaetsverhalten, kurzfristige Ertraege und Binkommensmaximierung, in: Gerlach, Knut, Olaf Huebler (ed.): Effizienzlohntheorie, Individualeinkommen und Arbeitsplatzwechsel, Frankfurt/Main, New York, S. 184 - 209.

Huebler, Olaf, Knut Gerlach 1989: Berufliche Lohndifferentiale, in: Gerlach, Knut, Olaf Huebler (ed.): Effizienzlohntheorie, Individualeinkommen und Arbeitsplatzwechsel, Frankfurt/Main, New York, S. 149 - 178.

Hujer, Reinhard, Oded Lwenbein, Hilmar Schneider 1988: Wages and Unemployment: A Microeconometric Analysis for the FRG, in: Koenig, Heinz (ed.): Recent Developments in Wage Determination (erscheint demnaechst).

Hujer, Reinhard, Hilmar Schneider 1987a: Determinanten der Arbeitslosigkeit in der Bundesrepublik Deutschland, in: Rothschild, K. W., G. Tichy (Hrsg.): Arbeitslosigkeit und Arbeitsangebot in Oe sterreich, Wien-New York, S. 127 - 152.

Jaekel, Stefan, Ellen Kirner 1987: Immer mehr Frauen im BerufZur laengerfristigen Entwicklung des Erwerbsverhaltens von Frauen, in: DIW-Wochenbericht Nr. 29, S. 393 - 402.

Kaiser, Helmut, Ulrich van Essen, P. Bernd Spahn 1989: Einkommensteuerreform, Arbeitsangebot und oekonomische Wohlfahrt - Eine mikro-oekonometrische Simulationsstudie fuer die Bundesrepublik Deutschland, Sfb 3-Arbeitspapier Nr. 277, Frankfurt-Mannheim.

Lorenz, Wilhelm, Manfred Vatthauer 1986: Die Komponentenzerlegung - Ein Verfahren zur Messung geschlechtsspezifischer Einkommensdiskriminierung, SAMF-Arbeitspapier Nr. 4, Paderborn.

Lorenz, Wilhelm, Joachim Wagner 1987a: Kompensierende Lohndifferentiale in der Bundesrepublik Deutschland Eine oekonometrische Untersuchung zur Bedeutung von Arbeitsunfallhaeufigkeiten fuer das Arbeitseinkommen vollzeitbeschaeftigter Maenner, SAMF-Arbeitspapier Kr. 6, Paderborn.

Lorenz, Wilhelm, Joachim Wagner 1987b: Berufskrankheiten und Arbeitseinkommen - Eine oekonometrische Untersuchung zur Theorie kompensierender Lohndifferentiale, Fachbereich Wirtschaftswissenschaften, Universitaet Hannover, Diskussionspapier Nr. 110, Hannover.

Lorenz, Wilhelm, Joachim Wagner 1988a: Kompensierende Lohndifferentiale, in: Wistirtschaftswissenschaftliches Studium, Heft 10, S. 515 - 518.

Lorenz, Wilhelm, Joachim Wagner 1988b: Gibt es kompensierende Lohndifferentiale in der Bundesrepublik Deutschland, in: Zeitschrift fuer Wirtschafts - und Sozialwissenschaften, Heft 3, S. 371 - 381.

Lorenz, Wilhelm, Joachim Wagner 1988c: Einkommensfunktionen, in: Wist-Wirtschaftswissenschaftliches Studium, Heft 7, S. 357 - 360.

Lorenz, Wilhelm, Joachim Wagner 1988d: Can Compensating Wage Differentials Explain Male-Female Wage Differences in the Federal Republic of Germany?, Fachbereich Wirtschaftswissenschaften, Universitaet Hannover, Diskussionspapier Nr. 127, Hannover.

Lorenz, Wilhelm, Joachim Wagner 1988e: Entlohnung von Humankapital im regionalen Vergleich - Eine oekonometrische Untersuchung mit Individualdaten fuer die Bundesrepublik Deutschland, in: Niedersaechsisches Institut fuer Wirtschaftsforschung e.V. (ed.): Regionale Lohn - und Beschaeftigungsstrukturen - Empirische Befunde fuer die Bundesrepublik, Hannover, S. 1 - 20.

Lorenz, Wilhelm, Joachim Wagner 1989: Kompensierende Lohndifferentiale und geschlechtsspezifische Einkommensdiskriminierung, in: Gerlach, Knut, Olaf Huebler (Hrsg.): Effizienzlohntheorie, Individualeinkommen und Arbeitsplatzwechsel, Frankfurt/New York, S. 248 - 270.

Merz, Joachim 1986: Das Arbeitsangebot verheirateter Frauen in der Bundesrepublik Deutschland - Eine mikro-oekonometrische Analyse unter Beruecksichtigung des 'selectivity bias' durch den PROBIT/COLS - und den TOBIT-Ansatz mit Daten des Sozio-oekonomischen Panels, Sfb 3-Arbeitspapier Nr. 207, Frankfurt-Mannheim.

Merz, Joachim 1987a: Labor Force Participation, Market Wage Rate and Working Hours of Married and Unmarried Women in the Federal Republic of Germany - The Influence of Occupational Career, Transfers and Other Socio-Economic variables Based on the German Socio-Economic Panel, Sfb 3-Arbeitspapier Nr. 249, Frankfurt-Mannheim.

Merz, Joachim 1987b: Das Arbeitsangebot verheirateter Frauen in der Bundesrepublik Deutschland - Eine mikro-oekonometrische Analyse unter Beruecksichtigung des 'selectivity bias', in: Krupp, Hanefeld 1987, S. 126 - 157.

Merz, Joachim 1989: Das Arbeitsangebot von Frauen im Haushaltskontext - Entlohnung und Arbeitszeit auf der Basis eines zweistufigen TOBIT-Ansatzes mit Daten des Sozio-oekonomi - schen Panels, Sfb 3-Arbeitspapier Nr. 282, Frankfurt-Mannheim.

Ott, Notburga, Gabriele Rolf 1987: Zur Entwicklung von Frauenerwerbstaetigkeit und Geburtenhaeufigkeit, Sfb 3-Arbeitspapier Nr. 244, Frankfurt-Mannheim.

Pischner, Rainer 1987: strukturen der Erwerbsbeteilicjung, in: Statistisches Bundesamt (Hrsg.) in zusammenarbeit mit dem Sonderforschungsbereich 3 der Universitaeten Frankfurt und Mannheim: Datenreport 1987 - Zahlen und Fakten ueber die Bundesrepublik Deutschland, Bundeszentrale fuer politische Bildung, Band 257 der Schriftenreihe, Bonn, S. 388 - 395.

Rebenstorf, Hilke 1987: Nutzungsmoeglichkeiten des Sozio-oekonomischen Panels fuer arbeitspolitische Forschung - Eine vergleichende Wertung mit den Daten gemaess der 2. DEVO, Wissenschaftszentrum Berlin fuer Sozialforschung, Discussion Paper IIVG/dp87-226, Berlin.

Schneider, Hilmar 1988a: Determinanten der Arbeitslosigkeitsdauer - Eine mikrooekonometrische Analyse fuer die Bundesrepublik Deutschland, Frankfurt-New York, (forthcoming).

Schupp, Juergen 1987b: Stabilitaet und Mobilitaet am Arbeitsmarkt, in: Statistisches Bundesamt (ed.) in Zusammenarbeit mit dem Sonderforschungsbereich 3 der Universitaeten Frankfurt und Mannheim: Datenreport 1987 Zahlen und Fakten ueber die Bundesrepublik Deutschland, Bundeszentrale fuer politische Bildung, Band 257 der Schriftenreihe, Bonn, S. 377 - 387.

Schupp, Juergen 1988a: Erwerbsbeteiligung und Arbeitsmarkt, in: Krupp, Schupp 1988, S. 88 - 113. Schupp, Juergen 1988c: Trotz Anstiegs der Beschaeftigung vurde wiedereingliederung Erwerbsloser schwieriger gebnisse einer Laengsschnittstudie fuer die Jahre 1984 bis 1987, in: DIW-Wochenbericht Nr. 32, S. 409 - 416.

Stobernack, Michael 1986: Umfang und Struktur der stillen Reserve auf dem Arbeitsmarkt - Eine Schaetzung auf der Grundlage des Sozio-oekonomischen Panels, in: Konjunkturpolitik, Heft 4, S. 195 - 217.

Vorholt, Hubert 1988: Arbeitseinkommen, in: Krupp, Schupp 1988, S. 114 - 137.

Wagner, Gert 1987b: Drei Thesen zur oekonomischen Bedeutung von Dienstleistungen in einer demographisch alternden Gesellschaft, in: Deutsches Zentrum fuer Altersfragen (ed.): Die ergraute Gesellschaft, Beitraege zur Gerontologie und Altenarbeit, Berlin, S. 308 - 321.

Wagner, Joachim, Wilhelm Lorenz 1987: The Earnings Function under Test, Fachbereich Wirtschaftswissenschaften, Universitaet Hannover, Diskussionspapier Nr. 112, Hannover; also published in: Economics Letters, Heft 1/1988, S. 95 - 99.

Wagner, Joachim, Wilhelm Lorenz 1988: Einkommensfunktionsschaetzungen mit Laengsschnittdaten

fuer vollzeiterwerbstaetige Maenner, Fachbereich Wirtschaftswissenschaften, Universitaet Hannover, Diskussionspapier Nr. 128, Hannover.

B) Program Participation and Benefits

Buechtemann, Christoph F. 1985: Soziale Sicherung bei Arbeitslosigkeit und Sozialhilfebeduerftigkeit Datenlage und neue Befunde, in: MittAB, Heft 4, S. 450 466.

Hauser, Richard 1988: Problems of Poverty and Social Security Reform in Germany (erscheint demnaechst).

C) Household Composition and Family Events

Arbeitsgruppe Sozialberichterstattung 1989: Sozialstruktur der Bundesrepublik heute, in: WZB-Mitteilungen, Heft 43, Berlin.

Fischer, Ingo, Richard Hauser 1988: Lone-Parent-Families in the Federal Republic of Germany, Sfb 3-Arbeitspapier Nr. 275, Frankfurt-Mannheim.

Galler, Heinz P. 1988: Familiale Lebenslagen und Familienlastenausgleich - Zu den Opportunitaetskosten familialer Entscheidungen, in: Felderer Bernhard (Hrsg.): Familienlastenausgleich und demographische Entwicklung, Berlin, S. 83-112.

Galler, Heinz P., Notburga Ott 1987: Familienlastenausgleich: effizientere Loesungen sind moeglich, in: Wirtschaftsdienst, Heft 8, S. 402 - 408.

Ott, Nothurga 1986a: Bevoelkerungsentwicklung bis zum Jahr 2000 - Modellrechnungen mit der Version 86.0 des Mikrosimulationsmodells des Sfb 3, Sfb 3-Arbeitspapier Nr. 212, Frankfurt-Mannheim.

Ott, Notburga 1986b: Die Fortschreibung demographischer Prozesse mit dem Mikrosimulationsmodell des Sfb 3, Version 86.0, Sfb 3-Arbeitspapier Nr. 213, Frankfurt-Mannheim.

Ott, Notburga 1988: Die Laengsschnittanalyse von Haushalten und Familien im Sozio-oekonomischen Panel, in: Bundesinstitut fuer Bevoelkerungsforschung (Hrsg.): Methoden zur Auswertung demographischer Biographien, Materialien zur Bevoelkerungswissenschaft, Wiesbaden (erscheint demnaechst).

Ott, Notburga, Gabriele Rolf 1987: Zur Entwicklung von Frauenerwerbstaetigkeit und Geburtenhaeufigkeit, Sfb 3-Arbeitspapier Nr. 244, Frankfurt-Mannheim.

Pischner, Rainer, James Witte 1988: Strukturen von Erwerbs - und Familienbiographien, in: Krupp, Schupp 1988, S. 138 - 171.

Witte, James 1987: Haushalt und Familie, in: Statistisches Bundesamt (ed.) in Zusammeniirbeit mit dem Sonderforschungsbereich 3 der Universitten Frankfurt und Mannheim: Datenreport 1987 - Zahlen und

Fakten ueber die Bundesrepublik Deutschland, Bundeszentrale fuer politische Bildung, Band 257 der Schriftenreihe, Bonn, S. 368 - 376.

Witte, James 1988: Haushalt und Familia, in: Krupp, Schupp 1988, S. 21 - 41.

Witte, James, Herbert Lahmann 1988b: Formation and Dissolution of One-Person Households in the United States and West Germany, in: Sociology and Social Research, Heft 1, S. 31 - 42.

D) Wealth and Asset Ownership

Data in this area from the Wave 6 Topical Module have not yet been released.

E) Housing Conditions and Residential Mobility

Harz, Christian, Herbert Lahmann 1987: Wohnen und seine Bewertung, in: Statistisches Bundesamt (Hrsg.) in Zusammenarbeit mit dem Sonderforschungsbereich 3 der Universitaeten Frankfurt und Mannheim: Datenreport 1987 - Zahlen und Fakten ueber die Bundesrepublik Deutschland, Bundeszentrale fuer politische Bildung, Band 257 der Schriftenreihe, Bonn, S. 406 - 414.

Lahmann, Herbert 1984: Die Wohnungsfragen im Sozio-oekonomischen Panel - Ergaenzung des amtlichen Berichtssystems zum Wohnungssektor? in: Vierteljahrshefte zur Wirtschaftsforschung, Heft 4, S. 407 - 414.

Lahmann, Herbert 1988a: Wohnen, in: Krupp, Schupp 1988, S. 42 - 60.

Lahmann, Herbert 1988b: Mietbelastung privater Haushalte in der Bundesrepublik Deutschland - Ergebnisse des Sozio-oekonomischen Panels fuer die Jahre 1984 bis 1987, in: DIW-Wochenbericht Nr. 42, S. 558 - 563.

Lahmann, Herbert, Joachim Frick 1989: Wohnkosten der Eigentuemer-Haushalte in der Bundesrepublik Deutschland Ergebnisse des Sozio-oekonomischen Panels, in: DIW-Wochenbericht Nr. 14, S. 155 - 160.

Stahl, Konrad 1987: Housing Patterns and Mobility of the Aged: The United States and W. - Germany, Arbeitspapiere in Wirtschaftstheorie und Stadtoekonomie, Universitaet Dortmund, Nr. 8701, Dortmund; forthcoming in: Wise, David (ed.): The Economics of Aging, Chicago.

Witte, James, Herbert Lahmann 1988a: Residential Mobility of One-Person Households, in: Bureau of the Census (ed.): Fourth Annual Research Conference - Proceedings, Washington D.C., S. 422 - 448; also published in: Vierteljahrshefte zur Wirtschaftsforschung, Heft 1/2, S. 60 - 78.

F) Education

Palamidis, Helene, Hubert Vorholt 1988: Bildung, in: Krupp, Schupp 1988, S. 186 - 202.

Vorholt, Hubert, Christof Helberger 1987: Bildung und Lebensgestaltung, in: Statistisches Bundesamt (Hrsg.) in Zusammenarbeit mit dem Sonderforschungsbereich 3 der Universitaeten Frankfurt und Mannheim: Datenreport 1987 Zahlen und Fakten ueber die Bundesrepublik Deutschland, Bundeszentrale fuer politische Bildung, Band 257 der Schriftenreihe, Bonn, S. 426 - 431.

G) Health and Disability

Baumann, Manfred, Pia Zollmann 1987: Kassenwechsel im gegliederten System der Krankenversicherung - Eine empirische Bestandsaufnahme, in: Sozialer Fortschritt, Heft 4, S. 73 - 82.

Baumann, Manfred, Pia Zollmann 1988: Konsequenzen einer Ausweitung der Wahlfreiheit in der Krankenversicherung: empirisch gestuetzte Abschaetzung des Wanderungspotentials, in: Sozialer Fortschritt, Heft 1, S. 2 - 8.

Braun, Hans, Mathilde Niehaus 1988: Die soziale Situation schwerbehinderter Erwerbspersonen - Eine explorative Studie in Rheinland-Pfalz, herausgegeben vom Ministerium fuer Soziales und Familie, Rheinland-Pfalz.

Duellings, Josef 1988: Personenbezogene Faktoren der Krankenhausverweildauer - Eine Studie an AOK-Versicherten, Sfb 3-Arbeitspapier Nr. 265, Frankfurt-Mannheim.

Duellings, Josef 1989: Ein Mikrosimulationsmodell der stationren Krankenversorgung - Datengrundlagen und Hypothesenstruktur, Sfb 3-Arbeitspapier Nr. 289, Frankfurt-Mannheim.

Frick, Bernd, Dieter Sadowski 1988: Zur Beschaeftigungssituation Schwerbehinderter - Eine empirische Analyse anhand des Sozio-oekonomischen Panels, Diskussionsbeitrag Nr. 17 zur Tagung des Arbeitskreises Sozialwissenschaftliche Arbeitsmarktforschung am 10./11.11.1988 in Darmstadt.

Frick, Bernd 1989: Zum Zusammenhang von rbeitslosigkeitsrisiken und gesundheitlichen Beeintraechtigungen, in: Sadowski, Dieter, Ingo Rendenbach (Hrsg.): Neue Zielgruppen in der Schwerbehindertenpolitik, Frankfurt-New York, im Druck.

Muehlmann, Harald, Pia Zollmann 1987: Gesundheit, in: Statistisches Bundesamt (Hrsg.) in Zusammenarbeit mit dem Sonderforschungsbereich 3 der Universitaeten Frankfurt und Mannheim: Datenreport 1987 - Zahlen und Fakten ueber die Bundesrepublik Deutschland, Bundeszentrale fuer politische Bildung, Band 257 der Schriftenreihe, Bonn, S. 432 - 441.

Muehlmann, Harald, Pia Zollmann 1988a: Gesundheitslage und-versorgung, in: Krupp, Schupp 1988, S. 203 - 230.

Muehlmann, Harald, Pia Zollmann 1988b: Die gesundheitliche Situation in der Bundesrepublik Deutschland - Beschreibende Auswertungen der Wellen 1 und 2 des Sozio-oekonomischen Panels, Sfb 3-

Arbeitspapier Nr. 280, Frankfurt-Mannheim.

Niehaus, Mathilde 1989: Behinderte Frauen als Zielgruppe der Schwerbehindertenpolitik, in: Sadowski, Dieter, Ingo Rendenbach (Hrsg.): Neue zielgruppen in der Schwerbehindertenpolitik, Frankfurt-New York, im Druck.

Thiede, Reinhold 1986: Die Situation von Privathaushalten mit pflegebeduerftigen Haushaltsmitgliedern - Ansaetze einer empiri - schen Analyse fuer die Bundesrepublik Deutschland, in: Nachrichtendienst des Deutschen Vereins fuer oeffentliche und private Fuersorge, Heft 3, S. 123 - 130.

Thiede, Reinhold 1988: Die besondere Lage der aelteren Pflegebeduerftigen - Empirische Analysen und sozialpolitische Ueberlegungen auf der Basis aktuellen Datenmaterials, in: Sozialer Fortschritt, Heft 11, S. 250 - 255.

Zollmann, Pia 1986: Inanspruchnahme von Zahnrzten in der Bundesrepublik Deutschland, in: FZV-Information, Nr. 1, S. 1 - 11.

H) Retirement and Pension Coverage

Hirvonen, Petri 1989: Rentenreform und Einkommensverteilung gegen eine zu pauschale Argumentation, in: Sozialer Fortschritt, Jg. 38, Heft 1, S. 2 - 10.

Kirner, Ellen, Hans-Juergen Krupp 1987: "Strukturreform" der gesetzlichen Rentenversicherung ohne Beruecksichtigung des .Wandels oekonomischer und gesellschaftlicher Strukturen? Ansatzpunkte fuer ein umfassendes Konzept, in: DIW Wochenbericht Nr. 50, S. 661 - 666.

Kirner, Ellen, Volker Meinhardt, Juergen Schupp 1986a: Unzureichende und ungleiche Anrechnung von Zeiten der Kindererziehung im Rentenrecht, in: DIW-Wochenbericht Nr. 40, S. 501 - 506.

Kirner, Ellen, Volker Meinhardt, Juergen Schupp 1986b: Empirische Befunde zu Fragen der Anrechnung von Kindererziehungszeiten im Rentenrecht, in: DIW-Wochenbericht Nr. 40, S. 507 - 511.

Kirner, Ellen, Gert Wagner 1988a: Teilvorruhestand und Teilrenten fuer aeltere - Teilzeitregelungen erst fuer das Ende des Arbeitslebens?, in: DIW-Wochenbereicht Nr. 34, S. 435 - 441.

Kirner, Ellen, Gert Wagner 1988b: Subventionierte Teilzeitarbeit nur fuer aeltere? - Zur Diskussion von Teilvorruhestand und Teilrente, in: Wirtschaftsdienst, Heft 10, S. 507 - 514.

Rolf, Gabriele, Hans-Juergen Stubig 1987: Zum Zusammentreffen von eigenen und abgeleiteten Leistungen aus Alterssicherungssystemen, in: Krupp, Hanefeld 1987, S. 43 - 72.

Rolf, Gabriele, Gert Wagner 1988: Altersvorsorge von Frauen Probleme und Refoymmoeglichkeiten, in: Zeitschrift fuer Sozialreform, Heft 11/12, Wiesbaden, S. 709-735 (also printed as Sfb 3-Arbeitspapier Nr. 270,

Frankfurt-Mannheim).

Schwarze, Johannes, Gert Wagner 1989: Geringfuegige Beschaeftigung - empirische Befunde und Reformvorschlaege, in: Wirtschaftsdienst, Nr. 4, S. 184-191.

I) Additional Literature

I.1 General Information concerning the German Socio-economic Panel

Geis, Alfons 1984: Projekt: Sozio-oekonomisches Panel Dokumentation zur Berufs- und Branchenvercodung, ZUMA-Technischer Bericht Nr. T 84/11, Mannheim.

Geis, Alfons 1986: Computergestuetzte Branchenvercodung, in: ZUMA-Nachrichten 18, S. 79 - 87.

Hanefeld, Ute 1982: Die 78er ADM-Stichproben - Eine kritische Beschreibung der bevoelkerungsreprsentativen Zufallsstichproben fuer die Bundesrepublik Deutschland, Sfb 3-Arbeitspapier Nr. 74. Frankfurt-Mannheim.

Hanefeld, Ute 1984a:- The German Socio-Economic Panel, in: American Statistical Association (Ed.): 1984 Proceedings of the Social Statistics Section, Washington D.C., S. 117 - 124.

Hanefeld, Ute 1984b: Das Sozio-oekonomische Panel - Eine Laengsschnittstudie fuer die Bundesrepublik Deutschland, in: Vierteljahreshefte zur Wirtschaftsforschung, Heft 4, S. 391 - 406.

Hanefeld, Ute 1985a: Zur erhebungstechnischen Anlage von wirts chafts - und sozialwissenschaftlichen Panelerhebungen Eine Literaturuebersicht ueber ausgewaehlte Studien, in: Vierteljahrshefte zur Wirtschaftsforschung, Heft 3, S. 247 - 270.

Hanefeld, Ute 1985b: Das Sozio-oekonomische Panel - Konzeption und ausgewachte erhebungsmethodische Ergebnisse, in: Allgemeines Statistisches Archiv, Heft 4, S. 399 - 410.

Hanefeld, Ute 1987: Das Sozio-oekonomische Panel - Grundlagdn und Konzeption, Band 1 der Reihe: Sozio-oekonomische Daten und Analysen fuer die Bundesrepublik Deutschland, Frankurt-New York.

Hanefeld, Ute, Hans-Juergen Krupp 1987: Lebenslagen im Wandel: Die Datenbasis, in: Krupp, Hanefeld 1987, S. 13 - 15.

Infratest Sozialforschung 1984: Das Sozio-oekonomische Panel, Welle 2, Zwischenbericht zum Pretest, Muenchen.

Infratest Sozialforschung 1985a: Das Sozio-oekonomische Panel, Welle 1, Methodenbericht zur Haupterhebung, Muenchen.

Infratest Sozialforschung 1985b: Das Sozio-oekonomische Panel, Welle 3, Zwischenbericht zum Pretest, Muenchen.

Infratest Sozialforschung 1986a: Das Sozio-oekonomische Panel, Welle 2, Methodenbericht zur Haupterhebung, Muenchen.

Infratest Sozialforschung 1986b: Das Sozio-oekonomische Panel, Welle 4, Zwischenbericht zum Pretest, Muenchen.

Infratest Sozialforschung 1987a: Das Sozio-oekonomische Panel, Welle 3, Methodenbericht zur Haupterhebung, Muenchen.

Infratest Sozialforschung 1987b: Das sozio-oekonomische Panel, Erfahrungsbericht zum Pre-Pretest fuer Welle 5, Muenchen.

Infratest Sozialforschung 1987c: Das Sozio-oekonomische Panel, Welle 5, Zwischenbericht zum Pretest, Muenchen.

Infratest Sozialforschung 1987d: Das Sozio-oekonomische Panel, Welle 4, Methodenbericht zur Haupterhebung, Muenchen.

Infratest Sozialforschung 1987e: Das Sozio-oekonomische Panel Paneldatei, Codebuch Welle 2-4, Muenchen.

Infratest Sozialforschung 1988: Das Sozio-oekonomische Panel, Welle 6, Zwischenbericht zum Pretest, Muenchen.

Infratest Sozialforschung 1989a: Das sozio-oekonomische Panel Vorerhebung zu Welle 7 "Zeitverwendung und - praeferenzen", Muenchen.

Infratest Sozialforschung 1989b: Das sozio-oekonomische Panel, Welle 5, Methodenbericht zur Haupterhebung, Muenchen.

Krupp, Hans-Juergen, Ute Hanefeld (Hrsg.) 1987: Lebenslagen im Wandel: Analysen 1987, Band 2 der Reihe: Sozio-oekonomische Daten und Analysen fuer die Bundesrepublik Deutschland, Frankfurt-New York.

Krupp, Hans-Juergen, Juergen Schupp (Hrsg.) 1988: Lebenslagen im Wandel: Daten 1987, Band 3 der Reihe: Sozio-oekonomische Daten und Analysen fuer die Bundesrepublik Deutschland, Frankfurt-New York.

Projektgruppe 1983: Pretestbericht zur ersten Erhebungswelle, Berlin-Muenchen.

Schupp, Juergen 1987a: Das Sozio-oekonomische Panel - Ein Projekt fuer neue Wege der Indikatorenforschung? in: Friedrichs, Juergen (Hrsg.): 23. Deutscher Soziologentag 1986,Beitraege der Sektions - und Ad-hoc-Gruppen, Opladen, S. 284 - 287.

Sonderforschungsbereich 3 1982: Antrag auf Foerderung des Projektes B-5, Das Sozio-oekonomische Panel. Frankfurt-Mannheim.

Sonderforschungsbereich 3 1985: Teilprojekt B-5, Das Sozio-oekonomische Panel, Bericht ueber die Forschungstaetigkeit 1983-1985, Antrag auf Foerderung der Forschungsphase 1986-1988, Frankfurt-Mannheim-Berlin.

Sonderforschungsbereich 3 1987: Antrag auf Foerderung fuer die vierte Forschungsphase 1988-1990, Frankfurt-Mannheim.

Sonderforschungsbereich 3 1988: Teilprojekt B-5, Das Sozio-oekonomische Panel, Bericht ueber die Forschungstaetigkeit 1985-1988, Antrag auf Foerderung der Forschungsphase 1989, Frankfurt-Mannheim-Berlin.

Sonderforschungsbereich 3, Deutsches Institut fuer Wirtschaftsforschung (ed.) 1988: Das Sozio-oekonomische Panel - Benutzerhandbuch, Version 1/Mai 1988, Berlin.

Wagner, Gert 1987a: Analysepotentiale und - grenzen der gegenwaertigen amtlichen und nicht-amtlichen Datenproduktion fuer einen 'Problemlsungsoperator Sozialwissenschaft', in: Mueller, Norbert, Herbert Stachowiak (ed.): Problemlsungsoperator Sozialwissenschaft, Band II, Stuttgart, S. 41 - 125.

I.2 Methodology

Berger-Schmitt, Regina 1988: Zur Problematik von Antwortstilen - Eine empirische untersuchung am Beispiel von Zufriedenheitsfragen, in: Zeitschrift fuer Soziologie, Heft 5, S. 374 - 381.

Engel, Bernhard 1986: Hot Deck Imputation Proceedures Anforderungen an Verfahren zur Ersetzung fehlender Werte und Realisierungsmglichkeiten in Programmpaketen, in: Lehmacher, Walter, Allmut Hoermann (Ed.): Statistik-Software, 3. Konferenz ueber die wissenschaftliche Anwendung von Statistik-Software, Stuttgart-New York, S. 61 - 73.

Galler, Heinz P. 1985: Uebergangsratermodelle bei intervalldatierten Ereignissen, Sfb 3-Arbeitspapier Nr. 164, Frankfurt-Mannheim.

Galler, Heinz P. 1986: Ein Gewichtungskonzept fuer das sozio-oekonomische Panel, Sfb 3-Arbeitspapier Nr. 204, Frankfurt-Mannheim.

Galler, Heinz P. 1987: Zur Laengsschnittgewichtung des Sozio-oekonomischen Panels, in: Krupp, Hanefeld 1987, S. 295-317.

Galler, Heinz P., Ulrich Poetter 1987: Unobserved Heterogeneity in Models of Unemployment Duration, in: Materialien aus der Bildungsforschung des Max-Planck-Instituts fuer Bildungsforschung, Berlin, S. 628 - 650.

Hujer, Reinhard, Oded Lwenbein 1987: Latente-Variablen-Modelle zur Analyse von Paneldaten, in: Krupp, Hanefeld 1987, S. 243 - 270.

Hujer, Reinhard, Hilmar Schneider 1986a: oeekonometrische Ansaetze zur Analyse von Panel-daten:

Schaetzung und Vergleich von uebergangsratenmodellen, Sfb 3 - Arbeitspapier Nr. 190, Frankfurt-Mannheim.

Hujer, Reinhard,, Hilmar Schneider 1986b: Semi-parametrische und parametrische Ratenmodelle - Eine anwendungsbezogene Einfhrung in die statistischen Grundlagen mit Programmbeispielen, Sfb 3-Arbeitspapier Nr. 200, Frankfurt-Mannheim.

Hujer, Reinhard, Hilmar Schneider 1987b: oekonometrische Ansaetze zur Analyse von Paneldaten: Schaetzung und Vergleich von Uebergangsrateranodellen, in: Krupp, Hanefeld 1987, S. 219 - 242.

Mueller, Gerriet, Pavle Alpar, Rudolf J. Grausam, Frank Worpitz 1986: Knowledge-Based Analysis of Socio-Economic Panel Data, in: Proceedings of IFAC International Conference on Economics and Artificial Intelligence, Aix en Provence, S. 131 - 133.

Rendtel, Ulrich 1987: Methodische Konzepte fuer die Hochrechnung von Panel-Daten, in: Vierteljahrshefte zur Wirtschaftsforschung, Heft 4, S. 278 - 290.

Rendtel, Ulrich 1988a: Reprsentativitaet und Hochrechnung der Datenbasis, in: Krupp, Schupp 1988, S. 289 - 308.

Rendtel, Ulrich 1988b: Panelmortalitaet - Eine Analyse der Antwortausfaelle beim Sozio-oekonomischen Panel in der 2. und 3. Befragungswelle, in: Vierteljahrshefte zur Wirtschaftsforschung, Heft 1/2, S. 37 - 59.

Schneider, Hilmar 1988b: PARAT Benutzer-Handbuch - Version 1.01, Sfb 3-Programmdokumentation, Frankfurt-Mannheim.

Schupp, Juergen 1985: Erfahrungen mit dem Aufbau einer SIR/ DBMS-Datenbank beim Soziooekonomischen Panel, in: STATUS GMBH (ed.): Berichtsband SIR/DBMS Benutzerkonferenz, Berlin, S. 117 142.

Scott, David, Heinz-Peter Schmitz: Calibrating Histograms with Application to Economic Data (forthcoming).

Wagner, Gert, Michael Lutterbeck 1985: Ergaenzungen zur antlichen Bevoelkerungsstatistik: Strategien zur Datenbeschaffung und fuer den Datenschutz im Sonderforschungsbereich 3, in: Materialien zur Bevoelkerungswissenschaft, Heft 42, S. 29 - 56.

I.3 Miscellaneous Topics

Blossfeld, Hans-Peter, Reinhard Nuthmann 1988: Strukturelle Veraenderungen der Jugendphase als Kohortenprozess, Sfb 3-Arbeitspapier Nr. 271, Frankfurt-Mannheim.

Boehnke, Klaus, Reiner Aster, Raimund Stuendel 1987a: oekkonomische Zukunftserwartungen und politische Grundhaltungen - Ein Vergleich von Arbeitsmigranten und Deutschen, in: Merkens, Hans, Folker Schmidt (Hrsg.): Integrationsprobleme von Arbeitsmigranten und ihren Familien, Frankfurt u.a., S. 25 - 42.

Boehnke, Klaus, Hans Merkens, Folker Schmidt, Dagmar Bergs 1987b: Auslaender und Wertwandel - Hat die "Stille Revolution" auch bei Arbeitsmigranten stattgefunden? in: Koelner Zeitschrift fuer Soziologie und Sozialpsychologie, Heft 2, S. 330 - 346.

Habich, Roland, Detlef Landua, Hans-Michael Mohr 1987: Subjektives Wohlbefinden, in: Statistisches Bundesamt (Hrsg.) in Zusammenarbeit mit dem Sonderforschungsbereich 3 der Universitaeten Frankfurt und Mannheim: Datenreport 1987 - Zahlen und Fakten ueber die Bundesrepublik Deutschland, Bundeszentrale fuer politische Bildung, Band 257 der Schriftenreihe, Bonn, S. 458 - 469.

Kaase, Max, Gisela Maag, Edeltraud Roller, Bettina Westle 1986: Zur Rolle des Staates in hochentwickelten westlichen Demokratien, Sfb 3-Arbeitspapier Nr. 210, Frankfurt-Mannheim.

Kaase, Max, Gisela Maag, Edeltraud Roller, Bettina Westle 1987: Zur Rolle des Staates in hochentwickelten westlichen Demokratien, in: Krupp, Hanefeld 1987, S. 180 - 195.

Kassella, Thomas 1988: Die Konstruktion eines synthetischen Mikrodatenfiles fuer steuerpolitische Simulationen, Sfb 3-Arbeitspapier Nr. 266, Frankfurt-Mannheim.

Kloas, Jutta, Christiane Recke 1988: Verkehr, in: Krupp, Schupp 1988, S. 172 - 185.

Krause, Peter 1987: Lebensbedingungen und wahrgenommene Lebensqualitaet von Arbeitslosen, in: Krupp, Hanefeld 1987, S. 105 - 125.

Krause, Peter, Roland Habich 1988: Zufriedenheit und Sorgen als Indikatoren der wahrgenommenen Lebensqualitaet, in: Krupp, Schupp 1988, S. 231 - 256.

Maag, Gisela 1986: Das Sozio-oekonomische Panel Ueberpruefung der Reprsentativitaet von auf Haushaltsebene erhobenen Daten gegenueber 1-Personen-Befragungsanstzen, Sfb 3-Arbeitspapier Nr. 215, Frankfurt-Mannheim.

Mohr, Hans-Michael 1986: Ausgewaehlte Aspekte zur wahrgenommenen Lebensqualitaet in der deutschen Wohnbevoelkerung, Sfb 3-Arbeitspapier Nr. 198, Frankfurt-Mannheim.

Mohr, Hans-Michael 1987a: Subjektives Wohlbefinden. Wohlfahrtssurvey vs. Sozio-oekonomisches Panel, in: Friedrichs, Juergen (Hrsg.): 23. Deutscher Soziologentag 1986, Beitraege der Sektions - und Ad-hoc-Gruppen, Opladen, S.288 - 291.

Mohr, Hans-Michael 1987b: Analysen zur vergleichbarkeit von Zufriedenheitsmessungen, in: Zeitschrift

fuer Sozialpsychologie, 18, S. 160 - 168.

Mohr, Hans-Michael 1987c: Ausgewaehlte Aspekte zur wahrgenommenen Lebensqualitaet, in: Krupp, Hanefeld 1987, S. 161 - 179.

Schupp, Juergen 1988b: Politisches Interesse, in: Krupp, Schupp 1988, S. 257 - 267.

Wagner, Gert 1987c: Indicadores y conceptos de calidad de vida: su impacto en la formulacion de programas politicos, in: Keller, Alfredo (ed.): Calidad de vida y cambio - Las reformas institucionales y la opinin Publica, Caracas, S. 59 - 62.

Wagner, Gert, Monika Ardelt, Notburga Ott 1988: Sportpotentiale bis zum Jahr 2000 - Eine mikroanalytische Simulationsstudie, in: Anders, Georg (ed.): Sport in der Krise der Industriegesellschaften, Berlin (forthcoming).

Wiegand, Erich 1987a: Assimilation von Auslaendern, in: Statistisches Bundesamt (ed.) in Zusammenarbeit mit dem Sonderforschungsbereich 3 der Universitaeten Frankfurt und Mannheim: Datenreport 1987 - Zahlen und Fakten ueber die Bundesrepublik Deutschland, Bundeszentrale fuer politische Bildung, Band 257 der Schriftenreihe, Bonn, S. 505 - 512.

Wiegand, Erich 1987b: Sprachkenntnisse von Auslaendern, in: Krupp, Hanefeld 1987, S. 196 - 215.

Wiegand, Erich 1988: Indikatoren der gesellschaftlichen Eingliederung von Auslaendern, in: Krupp, Schupp 1988, S. 268 - 288.

Zapf, Wolfgang, Sigrid Breuer, Juergen Hampel, Peter Krause, Hans-Michael Mohr, Erich Wiegand 1987: Individualisierung und Sicherheit - Untersuchungen zur Lebensqualitt in der Bundesrepublik Deutschland, Muenchen.